Sorption of chemical contaminants on degradable and non-degradable microplastics: Recent progress and research trends.

Torres, Fernando G., Dioses-Salinas, Diana Carolina, Pizarro-Ortega, Carlos Ivan y De-la-Torre, Gabriel Enrique.

Cita:

Torres, Fernando G., Dioses-Salinas, Diana Carolina, Pizarro-Ortega, Carlos Ivan y De-la-Torre, Gabriel Enrique (2020). *Sorption of chemical contaminants on degradable and non-degradable microplastics: Recent progress and research trends. Science of The Total Environment, 757,* 14387-5.

Dirección estable: https://www.aacademica.org/gabriel.e.delatorre/17

ARK: https://n2t.net/ark:/13683/podQ/hyO



Esta obra está bajo una licencia de Creative Commons. Para ver una copia de esta licencia, visite https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/deed.es.

Acta Académica es un proyecto académico sin fines de lucro enmarcado en la iniciativa de acceso abierto. Acta Académica fue creado para facilitar a investigadores de todo el mundo el compartir su producción académica. Para crear un perfil gratuitamente o acceder a otros trabajos visite: https://www.aacademica.org.



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Science of the Total Environment



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/scitotenv

Review

Sorption of chemical contaminants on degradable and non-degradable microplastics: Recent progress and research trends



Fernando G. Torres^{a,*}, Diana Carolina Dioses-Salinas^b, Carlos Ivan Pizarro-Ortega^b, Gabriel E. De-la-Torre^b

^a Department of Mechanical Engineering, Pontificia Universidad Catolica del Peru, Av. Universitaria 1801, 15088 Lima, Peru

^b Universidad San Ignacio de Loyola, Av. La Fontana 501, Lima 12, Lima, Peru

HIGHLIGHTS

GRAPHICAL ABSTRACT

- Microplastics (MPs) serve as vectors of chemical contaminants.
- The sorption capacity of MPs depends on mechanisms and factors.
- The sorption capacity of degradable MPs is similar or higher than nondegradable MPs.
- Future research must focus on elucidating the full potential of degradable MPs.



ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 27 September 2020 Received in revised form 11 November 2020 Accepted 12 November 2020 Available online 03 December 2020

Editor: Damia Barcelo

Keywords: Contaminants Nanoplastics Adsorption Hydrophobic interaction Mechanisms Factors

ABSTRACT

Microplastics (<5 mm) are ubiquitous contaminants of growing concern. These have been found in multiple environmental compartments, including remote sites where anthropogenic activity is null. Once released, microplastics interact with multiple chemicals in the environment, many of which are classified as organic contaminants or heavy metals. Some contaminants have an affinity for microplastics, attributed to certain sorption mechanisms, and thus become vectors of hazardous chemicals. Here, we focused on the sorption behavior of degradable and non-degradable microplastics, including field and laboratory experiments. We reviewed the sorption mechanisms, namely hydrophobic interactions, electrostatic interactions, pore-filling, Van der Waals forces, hydrogen bonding, and π - π interactions, and the factors strengthening or weakening these mechanisms. Then, we analyzed the literature investigating the sorption behavior of a wide range of chemicals contaminants on microplastics, and the current knowledge regarding the occurrence of organic contaminants and heavy metals on microplastics extracted from the environment. The future perspectives and research priorities were discussed. It is apparent that degradable microplastics, such as polylactic acid or polybutylene succinate, have a greater affinity for hydrophobic contaminants than conventional synthetic non-degradable microplastics according to recent studies. However, studies assessing degradable microplastics are scarce and much research is required to further prove this point. We stated several knowledge gaps in this new line of research and suggest the future studies to follow an integrative approach, allowing to comprehend the multiple factors involved, such as ecotoxicity, bioaccumulation, and fate of the chemical contaminants.

© 2020 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

* Corresponding author. *E-mail address:* fgtorres@pucp.pe (F.G. Torres).

Contents

1. Introduction		 	
2. Sorbed contaminants in MPs from the environ	ment	 	3
2.1. Organic compounds		 	3
2.2. Heavy metals		 	3
3. Determinants of the sorption of chemicals on a	nicroplastics	 	4
3.1. Mechanisms of sorption		 	4
3.2. Factors that influence the sorption mec	nanisms	 	6
3.2.1. Physical and chemical character	eristics of the sorbent	 	6
3.2.2. Chemical characteristics of the	medium	 	7
			8
4. Sorption properties		 	8
4.1. Non-degradable microplastics		 	8
4.2. Degradable microplastics		 	9
5. Future perspectives		 	10
6. Conclusions		 	
Declaration of competing interest		 	
Acknowledgments		 	
Appendix A. Supplementary data		 	
References		 	

1. Introduction

Since their development, plastics have become an essential element in modern society due to their versatility, durability, strength, and lightweight (Andrady, 2011). Commercial plastics are mostly composed of synthetic polymers derived from fossil-based sources, such as polystyrene (PS), polyethylene (PE), polyvinyl chloride (PVC), among others (Crawford and Crawford and Quinn, 2017). The widespread use and incorrect disposal of plastic items resulted in worldwide pollution of terrestrial and aquatic environments (de Souza Machado et al., 2018; Derraik, 2002). In 2018, global plastic production reached 359 million tons (PlasticsEurope, 2019), and around 10% of the plastic produced end up in the ocean (Avio et al., 2017). Their persistence, durability, and massive production have turned plastics into one of the major environmental challenges in the Anthropocene (De-la-Torre et al., 2021).

Microplastics (plastic particles smaller than 5 mm in size) gained increasing attention since they were first described by Thompson et al. (2004). These are classified into two categories: (1) Primary microplastics, which are plastics manufactured of microscopic size, and (2) secondary microplastics, which are microscopic plastics derived from the breakdown of larger plastics after being degraded in the environment (Cole et al., 2011). The main sources of primary microplastics are industrial and domestic products, including cosmetics, personal care products, coatings, and pre-production pellets. Regarding secondary microplastics, these are produced from larger plastics that undergo physical (e.g., wave action and mechanical abrasion), chemical (e.g., photodegradation), and biological degradation after disposal (Wang et al., 2018a, 2018b). Microplastics are ubiquitous in the environment, being found in marine sediments (De-la-Torre et al., 2020; Hidalgo-Ruz and Thiel, 2013), marine and continental waters (Mao et al., 2020; Sun et al., 2018), terrestrial and agricultural environments (Dioses-Salinas et al., 2020; Piehl et al., 2018). The widespread distribution and small size of microplastics make them readily bioavailable to marine biota (De-la-Torre, 2020). Thus, ingestion of microplastics has been reported in organisms across different trophic levels (e.g., zooplankton, mollusks, and fish), up to apex predators, such as marine mammals and seabirds (Bessa et al., 2019; Desforges et al., 2015; Garcés-Ordóñez et al., 2020; Gedik and Eryaşar, 2020; Ory et al., 2017; Santillán et al., 2020).

Although multiple ecotoxicological studies suggest that realistic environmental concentrations of microplastics may not induce significant detrimental effects on marine biota nor compromise their survival (Canniff and Hoang, 2018; Rist et al., 2016), co-exposure of microplastics and other associated contaminants could exacerbate their effects. For instance, Webb et al. (2020) reported no alterations on biochemical biomarkers in mussel *Perna canaliculus* exposed to microplastics alone. However, the combined effects of microplastics and triclosan (TCS), a common anti-microbial agent, increased the superoxide dismutase activity and lipid peroxidation, which are indicators of oxidative stress. Moreover, the presence of microplastics enhanced the uptake of TCS in mussel tissue (Webb et al., 2020), potentially serving as a pathway of exposure to other contaminants (Scopetani et al., 2018).

Microplastics are known to interact with a variety of chemicals in the environment. These may be categorized into heavy metals and organic pollutants. Among the organic pollutants, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs), polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs), pesticides, and pharmaceuticals are generally found (Brennecke et al., 2016; Camacho et al., 2019; Li et al., 2018; Wang and Wang, 2018a). Heavy metals mostly refer to metals and metalloids with high atomic weights. Some heavy metals, such as Cu, Pb, Hg, Cd, and Cr, can seriously affect the wellbeing organisms (Duan et al., 2020; Mahfooz et al., 2020). Many of these contaminants are able to sorb onto microplastics. Hence, owing to their ability to sorb xenobiotic chemicals, microplastics are regarded as vectors of hazardous contaminants. This phenomenon occurs due to one or many sorption mechanisms, such as hydrophobic interactions, hydrogen bonding, or electrostatic interactions, between the sorbent and sorbate (Yu et al., 2019). Stronger sorption mechanisms will result in a higher sorption capacity of certain contaminant onto microplastics. However, the strength and number mechanisms that take place will depend on the physical and chemical properties of the microplastics, pollutant and the medium where the sorption occurs (Fred-Ahmadu et al., 2020).

Until recent years, researches have concentrated on synthetic oilbased microplastics and discriminating bio-based and degradable microplastics by chemical-analytical means. Despite conventional plastics being gradually replaced by bio-based degradable plastics, it is still uncertain whether biodegradable plastics are an encouraging solution to the plastic crisis (Fojt et al., 2020; Shen et al., 2020). Furthermore, bio-based and biodegradable plastics have been reported to be a source of microplastics (Weinstein et al., 2020) and adsorb chemical contaminants (Gong et al., 2019). This review focuses on the sorption behavior of degradable and non-degradable microplastics, and the occurrence of chemical contaminants sorbed to microplastics extracted from the environment. First, we summarized the sorption mechanisms of chemical contaminants on microplastics and the factors that influence those mechanisms. Then, we reviewed and analyzed the available literature regarding the sorption behavior of a wide range of chemical contaminants and studies reporting sorbed contaminants on microplastics from the environment. Lastly, we discussed the future perspectives and research priorities in the emerging area of research that are degradable microplastics. We aimed to provide a reference frame of the interaction of microplastics with other contaminants with special focus on degradable microplastics.

2. Sorbed contaminants in MPs from the environment

2.1. Organic compounds

Persistent organic pollutants (POPs) are synthetic chemicals characterized for being resistant to multiple environmental degradation processes, allowing them to accumulate in different environments for very long periods (Kodavanti et al., 2014). POPs also tend to be transported through large distances and are able to bioaccumulate and cause adverse effects in biota (Miniero and Iamiceli, 2008). In the beginning, the Stockholm convention identified 12 POPs which were organochlorine pesticides (OCPs), polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs), polychlorinated dioxins, and furans (PCDFs) (Miniero et al., 2015). Subsequently, the list was expanded to add brominated flame retardants (BFR). Among them, polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs) are the most detected in the environment and commercially produced POP. Likewise, it was included to reduce the emissions of polysaccharide aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) (Miniero et al., 2015). Table S2 describes the literature reporting POPs sorbed to microplastics extracted from the environment.

The presence of POPs sorbed to microplastics from 3 environmental matrices have been reported, namely beach sediment, seawater, and freshwater. The common method was gas chromatography–mass spectrometry (GC–MS) to identify PAHs, OCPs, DDT, hexachlorocyclohexane (HCHs), hexachlorobenzene (HCB), PCBs, and PBDEs; while gas chromatography-electron capture detector (GC-ECD) was used to detect higher-brominated PBDEs. Polypropylene (PP) microplastics are the most widely studied polymers, being present in all studies, followed by PE, PS, polyethylene terephthalate (PET), and other less detected synthetic polymers. None of the retrieved studies reported degradable microplastics in the samples extracted from the environment.

PCBs are a series of organochlorine compounds, used as dielectrics, cooling liquids in electrical appliances, transformers, switches, capacitors, and thermostats (Weber et al., 2018). Lo et al. (2019) determined the concentration of PCBs sorbed to microplastics from beach sediments in Hong Kong, reaching up to 159.67 ng/g, by considering the sum of all the congeners of PCBs. These concentrations are probably associated with the incorrect disposal of electronic wastes in recycling sites in Hong Kong (Man et al., 2011). The concentrations of PCBs reported in microplastics from Japan, specifically in Tokyo Bay (126.13 ng/g) and Sagami Bay (52.12 ng/g), were in similar orders of magnitude (Yeo et al., 2020). Overall, Asian countries showed the highest concentrations of PCBs. In Chile, for instance, an average concentration of 39.90 ng/g was reported in the bay of San Vicente (Pozo et al., 2020), and in the Easter Islands, the concentration was <5 ng/g (Pannetier et al., 2019). In Portugal, it can be observed that the mean PCBs concentrations in beach sediments from Fonte de Telha (14.52 ng/g) and Cresmina (13.05 ng/g) are very similar, although they are not geographically close (Frias et al., 2010). This can be attributed to the ability to travel long distances through the absorption onto microplastics, although transport depends on many factors, such as type of microplastics or concentration of PCBs in the medium (Ravit et al., 2019). Higher concentrations were observed in the isomers CB 138 and CB 153 (Frias et al., 2010; Lo et al., 2019), showing that high molecular weight PCBs are more prevalent.

Polybrominated Diphenyl Ethers (PBDEs) are organobrominated compounds used as flame retardants, electronics, plastics, textiles, and PU foam (ATSDR, 2015). The concentration of PBDEs sorbed to microplastics from the seawater of Tokyo Bay showed that these were mostly composed of lower-brominated PBDEs (125.79 ng/g) (Yeo et al., 2020). Similar concentrations were found in Sagami bay (89.9 ng/g) and Choshi (86.79 ng/g). It should be noted that PBDEs with lower numbers of bromine atoms have a higher affinity for lipids (ATSDR, 2015), which enhances their bioaccumulation in adipose tissues. On the other hand, the presence of decaBDE was reported in Sagami bay (636.87 ng/g), Tokyo bay (111.42 ng/g), and Choshi (97.29 ng/g) (Yeo et al., 2020). Deca-BDE is commonly added as an auxiliary substance to a great variety of polymers used in electronic equipment, one of them being PE (Mei et al., 2020). Due to the differences in the way decaBDE is absorbed and stored in the body, it probably presents less toxicity than PBDEs with low bromine content (ATSDR, 2015).

PAHs are a group of more than 100 different chemicals, some of which are compiled by the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) as priority PAHs (ATSDR, 2015). Frias et al. (2010) reported the highest total concentration of 16 PAHs, expressed as the sum of the mean concentrations (Σ 16PAH) in beach sediments from Fonte de Telha (599 ng/g). Within these, the most abundant PAHs were chrysene (59.43 ng/g), pyrene (109.57 ng/g), benzo(*e*)pyrene (99.97 ng/g). Likewise, in beach sediments from Hong Kong, the abundance of individual PAHs ranged from 0.13 ng/g to 121.35 ng/g (Lo et al., 2019). The three PAHs with the highest concentrations were phenanthrene (121.5 ng/g), pyrene (93.7 ng/g), and fluoranthene (55.05 ng/g). The presence of fluoranthene and pyrene are associated with the incomplete combustion of organic fuels, such as coal (Budzinski et al., 1997).

Regarding pesticides, DDTs turned out to have the highest concentration (156.01 ng/g) in microplastic samples collected in beach sediments from Hong Kong, China (Lo et al., 2019). In this study, it was identified that the main polymers harboring concentrations of DDTs were PE and PVC. This may be associated with the sorption affinity of DDTs for PVC and PE microplastics (Bakir et al., 2014a, 2014b). Camacho et al. (2019) found that the concentration of organochlorine pesticides (except for DDTs) sorbed to microplastics and pellets from Las Canteras beach, Canary Islands, was in the range of 21–13,523 ng/ g with a median of 1059.3 ng/g. However, in a less tourist beach named Lambra, the concentration ranged from 0.9 to 43 ng/g.

The results on the concentrations of organic pollutants in microplastics based on each polymer type are not presented in the studies consulted. However, some studies mention that PE and PP have a greater capacity to absorb hydrophobic organic pollutants than other polymers (Fotopoulou and Karapanagioti, 2012; Yamashita et al., 2019). Several studies consulted, PE and PP were reported as one of the predominant polymers in samples of seawater, freshwater, and sediments (Chen et al., 2020; Frias et al., 2010; Lo et al., 2019; Pannetier et al., 2019; Ta and Babel, 2020). Thus, the bioavailability of the pollutants sorbed onto PE and PP microplastics may be of public concern. In the same way, environmental conditions such as weathering processes possibly increase the sorption capacity of microplastics due to the erosion the surfaces, turning them rougher and/or creating cracks, increasing the porosity, specific surface area, and alterations in the functional groups (Fotopoulou and Karapanagioti, 2012; Yamashita et al., 2019).

2.2. Heavy metals

The term "heavy metal" has been widely used for decades, usually to refers to metals and metalloids with an atomic weight in the range of 64.5–200.6 g/mol and densities greater than 5 g/cm (Duffus, 2002; Srivastava and Majumder, 2008). Some studies include lightweight metals as aluminum and no metals as selenium under the term "heavy metals" (Srivastava and Majumder, 2008; Zhou et al., 2020a). Currently, there is no standardized definition for the term and therefore there is not a defined list of the elements included in the heavy metal classification, being the usage of this term of high controversy among the scientific community (Pourret and Hursthouse, 2019). Nevertheless, in this study, we used this classification as it is the most commonly used on the studies retrieved, and the discussion on whether this term should

or should not be used and what other alternatives of classification do we have is beyond the scope of this study. Still, we suggest that a more precise and well-defined classification should be used, for example, a classification by groups (metals, metalloids, and no metals) (Pourret and Hursthouse, 2019).

After a review of the literature, nine studies reporting heavy metals in microplastics from the environment were retrieved for further analysis of their results. Some other studies that reported metals on microplastic were separated, as they did not apply any polymer identification method, thus it was not confirmed that the debris was in fact microplastics. The studies retrieved encompass five different countries from Europe and Asia and five environmental matrices that included: Beach sand, freshwater, mangrove sediment, river sediment, and soil. In the studies, the presence and quantity of Ag, Al, As, Ba, Cd, Co, Cr, Cu. Fe, Hg, Mn, Mo, Ni, Pb, Sb, Sn Ti, U, and Zn on environmental microplastics were reported. For this, three analytical methods were used. Inductively coupled plasma-mass spectrometry (ICP-MS) was the most common method for the quantification of Ag, Cd, Co, Cr, Cu, Mo, Ni, Sb, Sn, U, and Zn., while inductively coupled plasma-optical emission spectrometry (ICP-OES) and x-ray fluorescence (XRF) spectrometry were more commonly used for the quantification of Al, Fe, Mn, and Ba, Ti; respectively. The most studied plastic polymer was PE, followed by PP. All the studies reported the presence of PE, being in some of them the only polymer analyzed, whereas PP was reported and analyzed in 7 of the 9 studies. No studies analyzing metals sorbed to degradable microplastics from the environment were found.

From all the literature consulted, Ti registered the highest mean concentrations of all metals (22,841.05 μ g/g) (Wang et al., 2017a, 2017b). This concentration was present on microplastic samples taken from sediments of the Beijian river littoral zone, in China. Similarly, the third (5200 μ g/g) and fourth (4600 μ g/g) highest mean concentrations from all metals were from Ti presented on beach sand microplastic samples from England, France, and the Netherlands (Turner et al., 2019). Prunier et al. (2019) reported similar results of Ti concentration on plastic debris sampled on the North Atlantic subtropical gyre. These results suggest that Ti concentration on microplastic and larger plastic debris from the marine environment may be in an order of magnitude of thousands µg/g, even in remote areas such as the North Atlantic subtropical gyre. The high concentration of Ti on microplastic samples may be due to the sorption from the environment or the constitution of the plastic of origin (Prunier et al., 2019). Ti may be added to the plastic during its manufacture as TiO₂ to function as a white pigment or a UV blocker and later be released during the degradation of the material (Wang et al., 2017a, 2017b). In 2007, the plastic industry in the US had a market share of 26% of TiO₂ pigments, which is approximately 288,600 metric tons (Varner et al., 2010).

The heavy metal with the lowest concentration reported was Cd on microplastic sampled on beach sand from Honk Kong (<0.00063 µg/g) (Li et al., 2020a, 2020b). Cd, unlike Ti, presented a high variability on its concentration on microplastics having a difference of six orders of magnitude between the mentioned lowest mean concentration and the highest mean concentration (651 μ g/g), reported on the county of Devon in England (Massos and Turner, 2017). Likewise, levels of Zn, Sb, Pb, Cu, and Cr on microplastics varied greatly among studies. For example, the range of mean concentrations of Zn varied between 1.06 and 8242.52 µg/g (Ashton et al., 2010; Wang et al., 2017a, 2017b). Similarly, mean concentrations of Sb varied between 0.011 μ g/g to 621 μ g/g (Ashton et al., 2010; Turner et al., 2019). The highest mean concentrations of the rest of the elements named were between 3 and 5 orders of magnitude higher than the lowest. On the other hand, the concentration levels of Ni, Mn, Hg, Fe, Co, Ba, Al, and Ag were more consistent, with differences up to two orders of magnitude between the highest and lowest mean concentration.

In geographical terms, the microplastics from the Beijian River littoral zone in China presented the maximum levels of Ti, Zn, and Cu, with a difference of one order of magnitude compared to the second-highest concentration. Asian countries present the highest concentration of Ni, with similarities between their results, especially for the Beijian River littoral zone and Jinjiang in China and downtown Bangkok in Thailand. Microplastics sampled in the Celtic Sea, the North Sea, and the English Channel presented the highest concentrations of Sb, Hg, and Cr, with differences of at least 2 orders of magnitude with concentrations of Sb and Hg from the rest of the sites. In the same area microplastics with high concentrations of Zn, Ti, Pb, Fe, Cu, and Ba were found. No evident big scale regional trend was observed between the results of the different studies.

On a smaller regional scale level, concentrations of Cd and Pb in microplastic from beaches from the same bay on the Cornwall county in England were different by several orders of magnitude in different years (Holmes et al., 2012; Massos and Turner, 2017). These results may suggest a recent dramatic increase of metal pollution in the area. Similarly, other studies have reported a high variability of concentrations or presence of metals within samples, thus no geographical pattern was identified (Deng et al., 2020; Holmes et al., 2012; Turner et al., 2019; Zhou et al., 2019). The variability may suggest that the content of heavy metals in microplastics may be driven by local factors rather than regional ones. Some suggested factors are the local environmental conditions, the concentration of metals in the surrounding environment, and the proximity to sources of contamination (Holmes et al., 2014; Turner et al., 2019; Zhou et al., 2019). For instance, increasing the pH of the river and estuarine waters seems to increase the Cd, Co, Ni, and Pb adsorption capacity from microplastics while decreasing the adsorption of Cr (Holmes et al., 2014; Turner and Holmes, 2015). In addition, salinity may increase the adsorption of Cr on microplastics, while decreasing the adsorption of Cd, Co, and Ni (Holmes et al., 2014). Concentrations of Hg ions on microplastics were positively correlated with the concentrations of Hg in sediments from Jinjiang, China (Deng et al., 2020). Likewise, the concentration of Cd, Pb, Hg, and Mn were strongly correlated with the content of those metals in the soils of the surroundings of Wuhan city (Zhou et al., 2019). In Hong Kong and the Devon county of England, metals concentrations in microplastic increased with the proximity to pollution sources such as urban areas or polluted rivers (Li et al., 2020; Turner et al., 2019).

Results on the metal concentrations of microplastics based on their polymers were not present in the consulted studies. It is unclear how much influence the polymer type of microplastics has in its capacity to adsorb heavy metals. Even though some laboratory experiments have found differences in the accumulation of heavy metals between plastic types (Fischer et al., 2007; Holmes et al., 2012) their representativeness is limited for the environmental microplastics as microplastics and the surrounding environment are in a dynamic exchange of metals ions (Gao et al., 2019; Rochman et al., 2014). Hence, field studies may be more accurate to describe this issue. The results of the long-term field study developed by Rochman et al. (2014) suggest that PET, HDPE, PVC, LDPE, and PP tend to accumulate similar concentrations of metals. In a similar study, Gao et al. (2019) found that PP had a higher adsorption capacity than PVC. Both studies suggest that the presence of biofilms may have influenced their results either by prompting the adsorbance of heavy metals or neutralizing the differences for metal accumulation between the types of plastics (Gao et al., 2019; Rochman et al., 2014).

3. Determinants of the sorption of chemicals on microplastics

3.1. Mechanisms of sorption

There are mainly six sorption mechanisms that describe the interaction, forces, and bonding involved between microplastics and chemical contaminants: hydrophobic interaction, electrostatic interaction, porefilling, Van der Waals forces, hydrogen bonding, and π - π interaction (Fig. 1). The actuation of one or several mechanisms depend on the



Fig. 1. Schematic representation of the six sorption mechanisms.

physical and chemical characteristics of the sorbent (microplastic polymer) and sorbate (chemical contaminant).

Hydrophobic interactions describe the attraction between two nonpolar substances causing them to aggregate or cluster (Meyer et al., 2006); in this case, hydrophobic contaminants are adsorbed to the surface of microplastics. Since most microplastic polymers found in the environment are hydrophobic, such as PS, PE, PP, or PET, the hydrophobic interactions are one of the dominant mechanisms of sorption (Tourinho et al., 2019), especially for hydrophobic organic pollutants (Wang et al., 2016). Wu et al. (2016) investigated the sorption behavior of four pharmaceuticals and personal care products (PPCP), carbamazepine (CBZ), 17α -ethinyl estradiol (EE2), 4-methybenzylidene camphor (4MBC), and TCS, on PE microplastics. The linear sorption coefficients (K_d) were 191.4, 311.5, 5.14×10^3 , and 53.2×10^3 L/kg for CBZ, EE2, TCS, and 4MBC, respectively. It was noted that the *K*_d was conditioned by the hydrophobicity of each PPCP. The octanol/water partition coefficient (K_{ow}) was 2.45, 3.67, 4.76, and 5.10 for CBZ, EE2, TCS, and 4MBC, respectively. In other organic contaminants, such as polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs), perfluoroalkyl substances (PFASs), and phenols, hydrophobic interaction have been suggested as the predominant sorption mechanisms in different microplastic polymers (Wang et al., 2015; Wang and Wang, 2018b; Wu et al., 2019). Moreover, Wu et al. (2019) conducted a correlation analysis of the K_{ow} of several bisphenols and their adsorption efficiency to PVC microplastics. The analysis indicated a very strong correlation, with a coefficient of determination (R^2) of 0.999.

In electrostatic interactions, attraction between particles occurs by means of oppositely charged molecules or repulsion by molecules with the same charge (Tourinho et al., 2019). The increasing pH of the solution is generally associated with stronger electrostatic attractions, thus increasing the sorption capacity (Padilla-Ortega et al., 2014). This is due to the zeta potential, which describes the surface electric potential and is influenced by the pH (Xu et al., 2018a). When the pH of point of zero charge (pH_{pzc}) of a material is lower than the pH of the medium, their surfaces become negatively charged and prone to attract positively charged chemicals (Liu et al., 2018). Most plastics, such as PP, PS, and PE, have a lower pH_{pzc} than the pH of most aquatic mediums (4.26, 3.96, 4.30, respectively; Xu et al., 2018a), which enhances the adsorption of positively charged chemicals. Razanajatovo et al. (2018) researched the sorption of two positively charged pharmaceuticals, propranolol (PRP) and sertraline (SER), and one negatively charged, sulfamethoxazole (SMX), on PE microplastics under freshwater conditions (pH 6.85). The pH_{pzc} of PE microplastics is 4.30 (Xu et al., 2018a), which makes them negatively charged. The K_d values in the isotherm linear models were 3.33×10^3 , 2.30×10^3 , and 0.70×10^3 L/kg for SER, PRP, and SMX, respectively. The low K_d of SMX was attributed to the repulsion force between the negatively charged sorbate and the sorbent (Razanajatovo et al., 2018). As reported in previous studies, electrostatic interactions have a significant influence on the sorption of polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFASs) and bisphenols (Llorca et al., 2018; Wang et al., 2015; Wu et al., 2019). Although it is generally assumed that plastics are relatively inert, the sorption of metals has been observed in previous studies. Holmes et al. (2012) suggests that bivalent cations, like Cu²⁺, Pb²⁺, and Cd²⁺, interact with the polar regions of the plastic surface, which can be altered by other contaminants and plastic additives. Thus, electrostatic interactions are one of the main sorption mechanisms for metal ions (Liao and Yang, 2020).

The pore-filling mechanism consists of contaminants entering and remaining trapped in the nano-scale pores of microplastics (Wang et al., 2020a, 2020b). Bakir et al. (2012) indicate that the pore-filling mechanism may apply for glassy polymers (amorphous polymers with high glass transition temperature, T_{σ}). This mechanism has been observed in pesticide DDT and phenanthrene with PVC and PE microplastics (Bakir et al., 2014a, 2014b; Obst et al., 2011). Zhang et al. (2018a, 2018b) investigated the sorption behavior of the broadspectrum antibiotic oxytetracycline (OTC) on virgin and weathered PS microplastics. It was observed that the best fitting model was the Freundlich model, which describes a nonlinear sorption behavior. This behavior is due to a heterogeneous distribution of sorption sites, attributed to specific interactions between sorbate and sorbent (Sun et al., 2010) and pore-filling mechanism (Zhang et al., 2018a, 2018b). Similarly, Seidensticker et al. (2018) report pore-filling mechanism results in a slightly non-linear sorption isotherm of phenanthrene and two heterocyclic compounds on PS. The N₂-BET surface areas of PS revealed a mesoporous network with a pore size of around 195 Å, while PE is non-porous. This characteristic of PS allowed the pore-filling mechanism to take place, increasing the sorption capacity.

Hydrogen bonding can be involved in the sorption of chemical contaminants when proton donor and acceptor groups are present (Tourinho et al., 2019). Although the participation of this mechanism is fairly limited for a wide range of polymers, some may significantly enhance the sorption capacity. Liu et al. (2019a, 2019b, 2019c) investigated the sorption behavior of 17β -Estradiol on many microplastic polymer types. Polar polymers, such as PA, polycarbonate (PC), and poly(methyl methacrylate) (PMMA), and the presence of hydrophilic groups was associated with a lower hydrophobicity, thus limiting the enrichment of 17β -Estradiol by means of hydrophobic interactions. However, PA showed the highest sorption capacity due to the presence of hydrogen bonding. The presence of hydrogen-donor chemicals forms hydrogen bonds with the amide groups of PA (Endo et al., 2011; Nghiem et al., 2002, 2004), significantly enhancing the sorption capacity.

Additionally, Van der Waals forces and π - π interactions may take place and promote the sorption of chemical contaminants depending on the polymer type. Aliphatic polymers, like PE and PVC, exhibit Van der Waals interactions, while aromatic polymers, such as PS, exhibit π - π interactions (Guo et al., 2012; Hüffer et al., 2018; Hüffer and Hofmann, 2016). These interactions play a minor role compared to the ones described before but can further enhance the sorption capacity. For instance, Velzeboer et al. (2014) reported that the high aromaticity of PS microplastics significantly increases the sorption of PCBs, where the π - π and hydrophobic interactions mechanisms take place simultaneously.

3.2. Factors that influence the sorption mechanisms

3.2.1. Physical and chemical characteristics of the sorbent

The characteristics of microplastics have been found to affect the sorption of chemical pollutants in multiple ways. The polymer type plays a major role in determining several factors, such as polarity, crystallinity, and functional groups. Others, such as microplastic size and weathering, are subject to environmental stressors that act on microplastics, changing their physical and chemical characteristics. Depending on these characteristics, one or multiple sorption mechanisms may take place.

Polymers are determined as crystalline, semi-crystalline, or amorphous depending on the alignment of their molecular chains (Fred-Ahmadu et al., 2020). Crystalline domains are characterized for having molecular chains arranged straight, while the amorphous parts do not form a specific arrangement (Fig. 2). The degree of crystallinity and specific characteristics of the crystalline domains are key to determine morphological properties, such as mechanical strength, density, permeability, among others (Murthy, 2018). Zhao et al. (2020) investigated the sorption behaviors of organic chemicals (phenanthrene, pyrene, 1-nitronaphthalene, 1-naphthylamine, and atrazine) on polar (PBS, PCL, and PU) and nonpolar (PS) microplastics. The linear isotherm model showed that the five organic contaminants had a higher K_d in



Fig. 2. Schematic representation of the crystalline and amorphous regions of a polymer.

polar microplastics and PS. For instance, for pyrene highest K_d decreased in the order of PCL (1.42×10^5 L/kg) > PBS (1.21×10^5 L/kg) > PS (1.78×10^3 L/kg); and for atrazine in the order of PU (76.1 L/kg) > PBS (68.8 L/kg) > PCL (58.1 L/kg) > PS (not detected). As ported by Zhao et al. (2020), the higher proportion of rubbery domains (crystalline domains) was associated with a higher K_d . The temperature at which the glassy domains change to a rubbery is determined by T_g . The T_g values of PU, PCL, PBS, and PS have been reported to be -61.8, -60.2, -33.8, and 95.8 °C, respectively (Fanovich and Jaeger, 2012; Jin et al., 2016; Qiu et al., 2003), hence, PU, PCL, and PBS are regarded as rubbery polymers at room temperature. (See Fig. 3.)

The functional groups in microplastics may also influence the sorption capacity. Specific functional groups are related to additional sorption mechanisms described previously. Notably, Van der Waals forces are weak interactions among particles separated by a medium that easily disappear when separated from each other. They are associated with aliphatic and aromatic groups. Aromatic groups are generally related to π - π interactions. In the case of hydrogen bonding, this mechanism is associated with the presence of functional groups with hydrogen donor/ receptor properties in the sorbent and sorbate. Li et al. (2018) investigated the sorption behavior of five antibiotics, sulfadiazine (SDZ), amoxicillin (AMX), tetracycline (TC), ciprofloxacin (CIP), and trimethoprim (TMP), on five types of microplastics, PE, PS, PP, PA, and PVC. Overall, PA had the strongest sorption capacities and K_d values, ranging from 7.36 to 756 L/kg. These results are related to hydrogen bonding as an additional mechanism due to the amide groups (which are proton donor groups) in PA and carbonyl groups (proton acceptor) in AMX, TC, and CIP (Antony et al., 2010). However, in the absence of a chemical with proton acceptor groups, hydrogen bonding is not observed in PA microplastic-chemical systems. For example, Guo et al. (2019a) reported that hydrogen bond energy was zero in sulfamethazine (SMT)microplastics (PA, PS, PVC, and PP) interactions. However, polar groups (amide in PA, aromatic ring in PS, -Cl and aliphatic groups in PVC) may promote electrostatic reaction energies between the sorbate and sorbents (Kotdawala et al., 2005). Thus, Van der Waals and electrostatic interactions dominated the sorption behavior of SMT to different microplastics (Guo et al., 2019a). Most biodegradable plastics are distinguished for having oxygen-containing functional groups that allows them to degrade easier than conventional plastics (Zhao et al., 2020). Some of the most commercially available biodegradable plastics, such as polycaprolactone (PCL), polybutylene succinate (PBS), and polylactic



Fig. 3. Factors that influence the sorption of chemical contaminants to microplastics.

acid (PLA), have one or more hydroxyl and carbonyl groups in their backbone chain. Hence, biodegradable microplastics are generally of polar nature. Gong et al. (2019) indicated that carboxylate oxygens in PBS and PLA may form hydrogen bonds with polar moieties of the pesticide fipronil, which are stronger than the hydrophobic and π - π interactions between the pesticide and nondegradable microplastics (PE, PS, PVC, and PP).

Microplastics in the environment undergo weathering conditions that may form surface functional groups, decreasing their hydrophobicity, decrease their molecular weight and density through chain scission, become fragile and irregularly shaped (Alimi et al., 2018; Celina, 2013; Hüffer et al., 2018). Fan et al. (2021) researched the effect of UV aging on the sorption of TC and CIP to PLA and PVC microplastics. It was noted that UV aging increased the specific surface area and the surface negative charges. UV also increased the intensity of oxygen-containing functional groups, such as hydroxyl and carbonyl groups in PLA, which enhanced the hydrophilicity of microplastics. For PVC, an absorption peak in 1718 cm⁻¹ associated with the carbonyl group was observed in the FTIR spectra, which is caused by the presence of plasticizers. The sorption capacity of UV-aged PLA and PVC was higher than pristine microplastics for both contaminants. Similarly, Liu et al. (2019a, 2019b, 2019c) observed that the sorption capacity of CIP increased in UV-aged PVC and PS microplastics. Zhang et al. (2018a, 2018b) compared the sorption isotherms of OTC in virgin and beached (collected from a local beach) PS microplastics. The K_d was about 10 times higher (from 41.7 to 428.4 L/kg) in beached PS compared to pristine PS.

Mechanical and chemical degradation of microplastics causes them to fragment into even smaller particles. Fragmented microplastics increase their specific surface area, which influences the sorption capacity of chemical pollutants. Wang et al. (2019) investigated the sorption behavior of phenanthrene and nitrobenzene to PS microplastic of different sizes, ranging from 50 nm to 170 μ m. The results indicated that the K_d was inversely related to the particle size, except for 50 nm particles (Fig. 4). This relation was attributed to the drastic increase in the specific surface area (from 0.4 m²/g in 170 μ m microplastics to 63.4 m²/g in 50 nm microplastics) in smaller microplastics. Particles of 50 nm formed aggregates about seven times their size after sorption equilibrium, which limited the sorption capacity. Li et al. (2019) also concluded that K_d values of TCS sorbed to PS microplastics increased at smaller particle sizes due to larger specific surface areas. 3.2.2. Chemical characteristics of the medium

Changes in pH conditions of the medium could potentially alter the fate and behavior of certain contaminants, such as some pharmaceuticals and personal care products (PPCPs) (Bundschuh et al., 2016; Karlsson et al., 2017). For the sorption of OTC to beached PS microplastics, for example, pH is crucial (Zhang et al., 2018a, 2018b). The cationic, zwitterion and anionic forms of OTC are present in pH <3.27, 3.27–3.32, and > 7.32, respectively. Moreover, the pH_{pzc} of beached PS was 4.96, which means that higher or lower pH will increase the electrostatic repulsion created by equal charges. Zhou et al. (2020b) determined that the adsorption of Cd(II) to microplastics (PA, PVC, PS, acrylonitrile butadiene styrene [ABS], and PET) first increased and then gradually decreased with increasing pH in the medium (ranging from 2 to 9), reaching peak adsorption capabilities at pH 7 for PA and pH 6 for the rest. This behavior was associated with the pH_{pzc} values of the microplastic polymers, which ranged from 5.42 to 5.97. For Cd (II), electrostatic interactions are strengthened by reaching pH values around the pH_{pzc} of the sorbent. However, if the pH continues increasing, electrostatic repulsions are expected to occur as it becomes further



Fig. 4. The relation between K_d of phenanthrene (Phen) and nitrobenzene (Nben) and microplastic size. Error bars indicate SD. Data obtained from Wang et al. (2019).

from the pH_{pzc} owed to the enhanced anionic surface at pH values near the pH_{pzc} (Wang et al., 2020a, 2020b).

Apart from electrostatic charges, Elizalde-Velázquez et al. (2020) reported that the pH dependency of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (ibuprofen, naproxen, and diclofenac) sorption to microplastics was related to the speciation of the compounds.

The contribution of salinity on the sorption capacity will vary depending on the chemical pollutant and mechanisms that take place. High salinity may alter the aqueous solubility of organic compounds, encouraging their addition to solid phases (Turner, 2003). However, multiple studies suggest that salinity has little effect on the sorption of different contaminants on microplastics. Wu et al. (2020) found a slight decrease but no significant differences in the equilibrium sorption capacity of BDE-47 to PS at 0, 5, 10, 20, and 35% salinity. Comparably, Wang et al. (2015) reported that increasing concentrations of CaCl₂ and NaCl in the medium had a limited effect on the sorption of perfluorooctanesulfonic acid (PFOS) and perfluorooctanesulfonamide (FOSA) to PE microplastics. Additionally, Qiu et al. (2019) reported that the sorption of polyhalogenated carbazoles (PHCs) to PP and PE was not significantly altered by the addition of NaCl in concentrations ranging from 0.05 to 3.5%. However, a notorious decrease was observed on PVC, probably due to ionic competition. The ions in the aqueous medium may compete with other compounds for sorption areas on microplastics (Wang et al., 2020a, 2020b). This is also applied to realistic aquatic scenarios. For example, Llorca et al. (2018) compared the sorption behavior of perfluoroalkyl substances (PFASs) to microplastics in a realistic freshwater and seawater medium. Higher sorption affinity was found in seawater, mainly attributed to the presence of salts dissolved in seawater. The same behavior was observed by Vockenberg et al. (2020), where diphenylamine (DPA) showed stronger sorption affinity to microplastics under high NaCl concentrations. Puckowski et al. (2021) reported that ionic strength also affected the sorption of multiple pharmaceuticals, resulting in reduced interactions in environmental conditions.

Dissolved organic matter (DOM) are water-soluble compounds consisting of reduced organic carbon from various biotic and abiotic sources (Findlay and Findlay and Parr, 2017) that could influence on the sorption of chemical pollutants. Wu et al. (2016) applied humic acid in different concentrations as a proxy of DOM to understand its influence in the sorption of pharmaceuticals on microplastics. DOM was measured in dissolved organic carbon and the pharmaceuticals CBZ, EE2, 4MBC, and TCS were evaluated. Higher DOM significantly reduced the sorption of all the test chemicals except for CBZ. This behavior could be attributed to the interaction of DOM with the test chemicals by means of hydrophobic interaction of complexation (Ilani et al., 2005), or competition for sorption areas on the sorbate (Cox et al., 2007). However, Xu et al. (2018b) indicated that DOM had negligible effects on the sorption capacity of SMX on PE microplastics. Whether DOM influences on the sorption capacity will vary depending on the sorbate and sorbent. Wu et al. (2016) suggests that the polarity of the sorbent plays an important role in this behavior.

3.2.3. Chemical characteristics of the sorbate

The properties and behavior of the sorbate also influence the sorption capacity. These characteristics are mainly hydrophobicity, ionic property, and functional groups (Mei et al., 2020; Wang et al., 2020a, 2020b). Yu et al. (2020a, 2020b) investigated the sorption capacities and intramolecular interactions of naphthalene (NAP) derivatives (NAP-NH₂, NAP-CH₃, NAP-COOH, and NAP-OH) to PS with and without surface modification of -COOH (PS-COOH). Computational modeling was conducted to investigate the intramolecular interactions. Overall, NAP with uncharged functional groups (NAP-CH₃) exhibited the highest sorption capacity to both PS and PS-COOH. These results are owed to NAP derivatives with charged functional groups becoming more hydrophilic due to alterations in their polarity, ultimately weakening hydrophobic interactions. The computational modeling revealed that π - π interactions were influenced by the presence of certain functional groups. High δg values at lower Sign $(\lambda_2)\rho(a.u.)$ in the computational modeling indicated stronger π - π interactions in NAP, NAP-CH₃, and NAP-COOH. On the other hand, δg peaks at higher Sign $(\lambda_2)\rho(a.u.)$ indicated stronger repulsions between benzene rings or benzene rings and another functional group. This behavior induced minute sorption capacities in NAP-NH₃, NAP-COOH, and NAP-OH to PS-COOH. For further detail on the computational modeling results are displayed in Yu et al. (2020). The hydrophobicity of the chemical pollutants is also an important characteristic influencing on the sorption capacity (Mei et al., 2020). Hüffer and Hofmann (2016) found a positive and significant correlation between the distribution coefficient and octanol/ water partition coefficient of various sorbates (n-hexane, cyclohexane, benzene, toluene, chlorobenzene, ethylbenzoate, and naphthalene) adhering to PE, PS, PA, and PVC microplastics. A similar correlation was reported by Li et al. (2018) with the antibiotics sulfadiazine, amoxicillin, tetracycline, ciprofloxacin, and trimethoprim adsorbed to PS, PE, PP, and PVC. In general terms, the chemical properties of test contaminants affect their sorption capacity through stronger or weaker mechanisms, similar to the properties of the sorbent.

4. Sorption properties

4.1. Non-degradable microplastics

Early works by Teuten et al. (2007) and Adams et al. (2007) pioneered this line of research by investigating the sorption capacity of hydrophobic organic compounds, such as PAHs, and PCBs, to small plastic particles. This line of research has come a long way, focusing on chemical pollutants from a wide range of sources. We have divided the recent progress of the interaction of chemical pollutants and microplastics based on the type of chemical, source or commercial use: Flame retardants (Chen et al., 2019; Xu et al., 2018a; Seidensticker et al., 2018), metals (Besson et al., 2020; Guo et al., 2020a, 2020b; Wang et al., 2020a, 2020b; Wang et al., 2021; Zhou et al., 2020b; Zon et al., 2020; Zou et al., 2020), PAHs (Li et al., 2020; Lin et al., 2019; Wang et al., 2019; Wang and Wang, 2018b; Wang et al., 2018a, 2018b; Zhao et al., 2020), PBDEs (Wu et al., 2020a, 2020b; Xu et al., 2019), PCBs (Lin et al., 2019; Zhan et al., 2016), PHCs (Qiu et al., 2019; Zhang et al., 2019), Phthalate esters (Liu et al., 2019a, 2019b, 2019c), personal care products (Dong et al., 2019; Ho and Leung, 2019; Li et al., 2019; Wu et al., 2020a, 2020b; Zhang et al., 2018a, 2018b), pesticides (Gong et al., 2019; Šunta et al., 2020; Tubić et al., 2019), pharmaceuticals (Guo et al., 2018, 2019a, 2019b; Liu et al., 2019a, 2019b, 2019c; Zhang et al., 2018a, 2018b), radioactive elements (Guo et al., 2020a, 2020b; Guo and Wang, 2019), and other organic contaminants (Hu et al., 2017; Müller et al., 2018; Shan et al., 2020). Table S1 summarizes the sorbate, sorbent, sorption capacity, and sorption coefficient in multiple studies within these categories.

PAHs are organic compounds composed of two or more benzene rings bonded in multiple arrangements, released to the environment by natural or anthropogenic means, such as fossil fuel or wood burning, and automobile emissions (Mukhopadhyay et al., 2020). Their presence is commonly identified in multiple environmental compartments and poses a risk to the wellbeing of aquatic organisms (Ofori et al., 2020). Hence, multiple studies under different conditions studied the sorption behaviors of these types of compounds onto microplastics. Wang and Wang (2018b) reported that the K_d values of pyrene ranged from 3.4×10^3 to 9.8×10^3 in PE, PS, and PVC. Rather than purchasing pristine plastic particles for experimentation, Wang et al. (2018a, 2018b) extracted microplastic fibers (PE and nylon) from a mariculture farm in Xiangshan Bay, China. The K_d values of phenanthrene ranged from 2.76×10^3 to 8.84×10^3 in PE, and from 2.09×10^3 to 2.24×10^3 in nylon. The Langmuir isotherm model showed very low correlation coefficients (R^2) , in the range of 0.04–0.82, thus the maximum sorption capacity values were not reliable. Since chemical contaminants sorbed to microplastics are readily bioavailable to aquatic biota (Fig. 5), an interesting approach was conducted by Sørensen et al. (2020) consisting of evaluating the sorption behavior of PAHs and their co-exposure toxicity to marine copepods. The K_d values of phenanthrene and fluoranthene onto PE were 2.7×10^2 , and 7.0×10^2 L/kg, respectively. Marine copepods *Calanus finmarchicus* and *Acartia tonsa* were exposed to microplastics sorbed with phenanthrene or fluoranthene in a medium with these contaminants present in the dissolved phase. The presence of microplastics reduced the concentration of PAHs in the dissolved phase. However, the co-exposure bioassays indicated that, although the ingestion of microplastic-sorbed PAHs occurred, no mortality was observed. Also, the PAH body burden was higher in the medium with no microplastics added, which indicates that the dissolved parts of PAHs are more bioavailable than microplastic-sorbed parts.

Pharmaceuticals and personal care products (PPCPs) are a group of many chemical compounds produced to prevent human and animal disease and are part of the chemical composition of many products used in daily life (Boxall et al., 2012). These contaminants have been on the scope of many recent studies as they are considered as contaminants of emerging concern. Other than the studies summarized in the previous section and Table S1, some researchers opted for different approaches, including in situ experiments and sorption interactions with multiple contaminants simultaneously. Magadini et al. (2020) investigated the sorption of three pharmaceuticals, atenolol, ibuprofen, and sulfamethoxazole, onto microplastics in NYC waterways. The K_d values of the plastic bags-derived microplastics were the largest (~0.2 L/kg), while most of the other microplastic pellets (HDPE, PVC, LDPE, and PP) were about ~0.005 L/kg. The rapid growth of biofilms was identified to positively affect the sorption of pharmaceuticals onto microplastics. Yu et al. (2020) evaluated the combined sorption of levofloxacin and heavy metals to PVC microplastics. The sorption capacity of levofloxacin alone was 2.32 mg/g. The addition of Zn^{2+} , Cu^{2+} , and Cr^{3+} enhanced the sorption capacity of levofloxacin, while Pb^{2+} and Cd^{2+} weaken the sorption. The presence of metals in the sorbate solution competes with levofloxacin for active adsorption sites on microplastics due to electrostatic interactions, thus weakening the maximum sorption capacity (Wang et al., 2017a, 2017b). Simultaneously, the complexation of heavy metal ions is carried out by hydroxyl groups and specifically chloride groups in PVC complex with Pb^{2+} ions (Lee and Choi, 2018; Yu et al., 2020a, 2020b).

4.2. Degradable microplastics

Contrary to nondegradable microplastics, studies investigating the sorption behavior of pollutants onto degradable plastics are very recent and limited. Only eight articles were found in this line of research, encompassing metals (Li et al., 2020; Liao and Yang, 2020), PAHs (Zhao et al., 2020; Zuo et al., 2019), PFASs (Ateia et al., 2020), pesticides (Gong et al., 2019; Tubić et al., 2019), and pharmaceuticals (Fan et al., 2021). Table 1 summarizes sorption capacity and coefficient in degradable polymers. Some researchers made comparative analyses between the sorption behavior of certain pollutants onto degradable or nondegradable microplastics (Fan et al., 2021; Gong et al., 2019) while highlighting the necessity for extensive research of the sorption of contaminants onto degradable microplastics.

Regarding pharmaceuticals, it was observed that the PLA's sorption capacity of tetracycline (2.51 mg/g) and ciprofloxacin (3.19 mg/g) was significantly higher than PVC's (Fan et al., 2021). A simulated aging process of PLA and PVC microplastics by UV light increased their sorption capacity. The original sorption capacity of tetracycline increased from 2.51 to 5.49 mg/g, while in PVC went from 0.96 to 1.57 mg/g. It was noted that PLA was more susceptible to UV radiation, which increased the intensity of oxygen-containing functional groups and thus becoming more hydrophilic. The highest sorption capacities of tetracycline and ciprofloxacin were reported by Li et al. (2018), being 3.84 and 2.20 mg/g in PA, respectively. The results by Fan et al. (2021) show that the sorption capacity of PLA to antibiotics is among the highest in contrast with nondegradable microplastics. Additionally, Ateia et al. (2020) found that PLA originated from biodegradable plastic cups had the highest adsorption of acetamidophenol when compared to a wide range of microplastic polymers (HDPE, PE, PP, PET; EPS, PA66, among others).

The sorption of fipronil, a broad-spectrum insecticide, to six microplastic polymers, including PLA and PBS, was investigated by



Fig. 5. Sorption of chemical contaminants to microplastics as a pathway to marine organisms. (a) A representation of the three steps for bioavailability of sorbed contaminants. (b) *Calanus finmarchicus* surrounded by 90–106 µm PE microplastics (non-ingestible). (c) Feces of *C. finmarchicus* showing encapsulates PE microplastics of different sizes. Scale bar (a) indicates 500 µm and (b) 100 µm. Reprinted from (Sørensen et al., 2020). Copyright (2020) with permission from Elsevier.

Table 1

Sorption properties of various chemical pollutants on degradable microplastics. 4-CP: 4-chlorophenol. 2,4-DCP: 2,4-dichlorophenol- 2,4,6-TCP: 2,4,6-trichlorophenol. PCP: pentachlorophenol.

Cor	npound	Plastic polymer	Sorption capacity (mg/g) ^a	Sorption coefficient (L/kg) ^a	Reference	
Pharmacellificals	Tetracycline	PLA	2.51	-	(Fan et al., 2021)	
	Ciprofloxacin	PLA	3.19	-		
Phenanthren PAHs Pyrene 1-nitronapht 1-napthylam		PBAT	-	5.48×10^4	(Zuo et al., 2019)	
	Phenanthrene	PBS	-	2.50×10^4		
		PCL	-	3.18×10^4	(Zhao et al., 2020)	
	Durana	PBS	-	1.21×10^{5}		
	ryrene	PCL	-	1.42×10^{5}		
	1 nitronanhthalana	PBS	-	7.14×10^{2}		
	1-intronapitulaiene	PCL	-	9.31×10^{2}		
	1	PBS	-	5.07×10^{2}		
	1-naptnyrannne	PCL	-	5.18×10^{2}		
Atrazine Fipronil Pesticides 4-CP 2,4-DCP 2,4,6-TCP PCP	A	PBS	-	68.8	(Zhao et al., 2020)	
	Atrazine	PCL	-	58.1		
	The second l	PBS	0.23	3.26×10^{3}	(Gong et al., 2019)	
	Fipronii	PLA	0.72	0.42×10^{3}		
	4-CP	PLA	3.27×10^{-2}	2.52×10^4		
	2,4-DCP	PLA	4.55×10^{-2}	1.52×10^{4}	(7.1.1. 1.0010)	
	2,4,6-TCP	PLA	8.22×10^{-2}	1.18×10^4	(Tubić et al., 2019)	
	PCP	PLA	6.27×10^{-2}	$9.40 imes 10^4$		

^a Data was obtained from the best-fitted model.

Gong et al. (2019). The highest sorption capacities decreased in the order of PBS (0.72 mg/g) > PLA (0.23 mg/g) > PP (62.7×10^{-3} mg/ g) > PE $(57.5 \times 10^{-3} \text{ mg/g})$ > PS $(50.8 \times 10^{-3} \text{ mg/g})$ > PVC $(38.3 \times 10^{-3} \text{ mg/g})$. The high sorption capacities of the degradable microplastics were many times higher than conventional ones, probably attributed to the presence of oxygen-containing functional groups (carbonyl oxygens), and the sorption rates were faster. Tubić et al. (2019) investigated the sorption behavior of four chlorinated phenols, compounds commonly used in multiple pesticides, onto PE, PP, and PLA. In none of the four compounds, PLA exhibited the highest sorption capacity. However, little variability was observed for this parameter among polymers except for pentachlorophenol. For instance, the sorption capacity of 4-chlorophenol, 2,4-dichlorophenol, and 2,4,6trichlorophenol were in the ranges 2.46×10^{-2} – 3.27×10^{-2} mg/g, 4.55×10^{-2} - 6.90×10^{-2} mg/g, and 3.75×10^{-2} - 8.71×10^{-2} , respectively.

Ateia et al. (2020) also investigated the sorption of two PFASs: Perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA) and perfluorooctanesulfonic acid (PFOS). Although isotherm models were not conducted, chromatographic methods were applied to quantify the percentage of contaminants uptaken by the microplastics from the aqueous medium. Results indicated that the maximum adsorption of PFOS was achieved by several polymers: PE, ABS, PA, PMMA, and PLA. For PFOA, PE, Nylon, and PLA were among the microplastic polymers with the highest adsorptions.

The sorption of PAHs was investigated encompassing four compounds in two different studies. Zuo et al. (2019) compared the sorption of phenanthrene to PBAT, PS, and PE in the form of microplastics or powder. The sorption coefficient in PBAT was many times higher than in the other polymers, with a mean K_d value of 5.48×10^4 L/kg, compared to 15.6×10^3 , 14.1×10^3 , and 1.34×10^3 L/kg in PE microplastics, PE powder, and PS, respectively. The K_d values of phenanthrene in PBS and PCL were reported to reach similar quantities, specifically 2.50×10^4 and 3.18×10^4 L/kg, respectively (Zhao et al., 2020). For pyrene, the K_d value was also higher in degradable plastics. However, for 1-nitronaphthalene and 1-napthylamine PU exhibited the highest K_d values. Contrary to previous studies, PLA was not assessed for PAHs.

In the studies focusing on the sorption of metals, kinetic or isotherm models were not conducted to estimate the sorption capacity and coefficient. However, the available literature may present insights into the sorption behavior of metals onto degradable microplastics. Liao and Yang (2020) simulated the adsorption of Cr onto five microplastic polymers and determined the concentrations by spectrophotometric methods. Results indicated that the sorption process reached equilibrium after about 48 h; the concentration of Cr in PLA was the lowest with 2.88 μ m/g, while the concentrations in PE, PP, PVC, and PS ranged from 3.50 to 5.07 μ m/g. Lastly, Li et al. (2020) quantified the adsorption of heavy metals during the degradation of PE and PBAT in soil. It was observed that after six weeks of degradation, PBAT microplastics had adsorbed significantly higher concentrations of mainly Cr, Ba, As, and Pb.

5. Future perspectives

For over a decade, extensive research efforts have been devoted to sorption studies with nondegradable microplastics and a wide range of environmental contaminants. Despite the increasing use of degradable plastics in many markets and industries, such as packaging, catering products, electronics, toys, agriculture, among others (Shruti and Kutralam-Muniasamy, 2019), it is evident that biodegradable microplastics have been overlooked within this line of research. Hence, it is necessary to conduct new studies aiming to fill in the knowledge gaps regarding the sorption and desorption behavior of chemical contaminants onto degradable microplastics. The eight studies previously described may give baseline insights into the potential that degradable microplastics may pose as carriers of chemical contaminants. Future studies are required to approach the sorption behavior under both simulated and natural aquatic mediums and assess the multiple interactions of two or more contaminants simultaneously under realistic scenarios. Furthermore, sorption studies must be accompanied by ecotoxicological assays to determine (1) the lethal and sublethal effects of degradable microplastics and other contaminants in co-exposure experiments, and (2) the bioavailability of the sorbed contaminants to aquatic biota of different taxa. We believe that mass-produced polymers that are proven to form microplastics during degradation, such as PLA (Lambert and Wagner, 2016), are of special interest in sorption behavior studies.

Few studies have addressed the problem of heavy metals and organic pollutants associated with environmental microplastics, and the study sites are mainly concentrated in European and Asian countries. No studies were found that evaluated or discussed the issue of metals and organic pollutants associated with degradable microplastics from the environment. Therefore, although the ability of degradable and non-degradable plastics to sorb heavy metals and organic contaminants has been demonstrated in laboratory and field experiments (Ateia et al., 2020; Gao et al., 2019; Holmes et al., 2014; Liao and Yang, 2020; Rochman et al., 2014; Zhao et al., 2020), the interaction between the different chemical compounds that make up PAHs and microplastics is not well understood and therefore should be investigated further. On the other hand, we still know little about the actual fate in the environment or sorbed contaminants and the magnitude of this problem. Furthermore, most of the studies have focused on analyzing the content of heavy metals and organic pollutants in microplastics in coastal areas. Other ecosystems, such as terrestrial and continental water, need to be studied further, paying particular attention to fragile ecosystems. These issues must be addressed to develop a more realistic assessment of the risk posed by heavy metals and organic contaminants associated with microplastics to humans and the environment.

6. Conclusions

This review analyzed the recent progress in the sorption of chemical contaminants onto microplastics, focusing on experimental studies reporting kinetic and isotherm models, and field studies identifying the contaminants sorbed to microplastics from the environment. Most studies focused on typical nondegradable microplastics, such as PE, PP, PS, among others, which leaves an important knowledge gap regarding degradable microplastics. Very few studies aimed to determine the sorption behavior of chemical contaminants onto degradable microplastics and none of the field studies reported their occurrence. Hence, we encourage future research to address these uncertainties by conducting integrative approaches, allowing to not only determine the sorption capacities of certain contaminants, but to understand their toxicity, interaction, bioavailability, and fate in the environment.

Declaration of competing interest

The authors declare that they have no competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Acknowledgments

This work was supported by the Vice-rectorate of Research of the Pontificia Universidad Católica del Perú (VRI-PUCP).

Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https://doi. org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.143875.

References

- Adams, R.G., Lohmann, R., Fernandez, L.A., MacFarlane, J.K., Gschwend, P.M., 2007. Polyethylene devices: passive samplers for measuring dissolved hydrophobic organic compounds in aquatic environments. Environ. Sci. Technol. 41, 1317–1323. https:// doi.org/10.1021/es0621593.
- Alimi, O.S., Farner Budarz, J., Hernandez, L.M., Tufenkji, N., 2018. Microplastics and nanoplastics in aquatic environments: aggregation, deposition, and enhanced contaminant transport. Environ. Sci. Technol. 52, 1704–1724. https://doi.org/10.1021/ acs.est.7b05559.
- Andrady, A.L., 2011. Microplastics in the marine environment. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 62, 1596–1605. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2011.05.030.
- Antony, A., Fudianto, R., Cox, S., Leslie, G., 2010. Assessing the oxidative degradation of polyamide reverse osmosis membrane-accelerated ageing with hypochlorite exposure. J. Memb. Sci. 347, 159–164. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.memsci.2009.10.018.
- Ashton, K., Holmes, L., Turner, A., 2010. Association of metals with plastic production pellets in the marine environment. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 60, 2050–2055. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.marpolbul.2010.07.014.
- Ateia, M., Zheng, T., Calace, S., Tharayil, N., Pilla, S., Karanfil, T., 2020. Sorption behavior of real microplastics (MPs): insights for organic micropollutants adsorption on a large set of well-characterized MPs. Sci. Total Environ. 720, 137634. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.137634.
- ATSDR, 2015. Public Health Statement for PBDEs Survey.
- Avio, C.G., Gorbi, S., Regoli, F., 2017. Plastics and microplastics in the oceans: from emerging pollutants to emerged threat. Mar. Environ. Res. 128, 2–11. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.marenvres.2016.05.012.

- Bakir, A., Rowland, S.J., Thompson, R.C., 2012. Competitive sorption of persistent organic pollutants onto microplastics in the marine environment. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 64, 2782–2789. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2012.09.010.
- Bakir, A., Rowland, S.J., Thompson, R.C., 2014a. Transport of persistent organic pollutants by microplastics in estuarine conditions. Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci. 140, 14–21. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.ecss.2014.01.004.
- Bakir, A., Rowland, S.J., Thompson, R.C., 2014b. Enhanced desorption of persistent organic pollutants from microplastics under simulated physiological conditions. Environ. Pollut. 185, 16–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2013.10.007.
- Bessa, F., Ratcliffe, N., Otero, V., Sobral, P., Marques, J.C., Waluda, C.M., Trathan, P.N., Xavier, J.C., 2019. Microplastics in gentoo penguins from the Antarctic region. Sci. Rep. 9, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-50621-2.
- Besson, M., Jacob, H., Oberhaensli, F., Taylor, A., Swarzenski, P.W., Metian, M., 2020. Preferential adsorption of cd, Cs and Zn onto virgin polyethylene microplastic versus sediment particles. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 156, 111223. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. marpolbul.2020.111223.
- Boxall, A.B.A., Rudd, M.A., Brooks, B.W., Caldwell, D.J., Choi, K., Hickmann, S., Innes, E., Ostapyk, K., Staveley, J.P., Verslycke, T., Ankley, G.T., Beazley, K.F., Belanger, S.E., Berninger, J.P., Carriquiriborde, P., Coors, A., DeLeo, P.C., Dyer, S.D., Ericson, J.F., Gagné, F., Giesy, J.P., Gouin, T., Hallstrom, L., Karlsson, M.V., Joakim Larsson, D.G., Lazorchak, J.M., Mastrocco, F., McLaughlin, A., McMaster, M.E., Meyerhoff, R.D., Moore, R., Parrott, J.L., Snape, J.R., Murray-Smith, R., Servos, M.R., Sibley, P.K., Straub, J.O., Szabo, N.D., Topp, E., Tetreault, G.R., Trudeau, V.L., Van Der Kraak, G., 2012. Pharmaceuticals and personal care products in the environment: what are the big questions? Environ. Health Perspect. 120, 1221–1229. https://doi.org/10.1289/ ehp.1104477.
- Brennecke, D., Duarte, B., Paiva, F., Caçador, I., Canning-Clode, J., 2016. Microplastics as vector for heavy metal contamination from the marine environment. Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci. 178, 189–195. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecss.2015.12.003.
- Budzinski, H., Jones, I., Bellocq, J., Piérard, C., Garrigues, P., 1997. Evaluation of sediment contamination by polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in the Gironde estuary. Marine Chemistry. Elsevier, pp. 85–97 https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-4203(97)00028-5.
- Bundschuh, M., Weyers, A., Ebeling, M., Elsaesser, D., Schulz, R., 2016. Narrow pH range of surface water bodies receiving pesticide input in Europe. Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 96, 3–8. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00128-015-1665-7.
- Camacho, M., Herrera, A., Gómez, M., Acosta-Dacal, A., Martínez, I., Henríquez-Hernández, L.A., Luzardo, O.P., 2019. Organic pollutants in marine plastic debris from Canary Islands beaches. Sci. Total Environ. 662, 22–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. scitotenv.2018.12.422.
- Canniff, P.M., Hoang, T.C., 2018. Microplastic ingestion by Daphnia magna and its enhancement on algal growth. Sci. Total Environ. 633, 500–507. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.03.176.
- Celina, M.C., 2013. Review of polymer oxidation and its relationship with materials performance and lifetime prediction. Polymer Degradation and Stability. Elsevier, pp. 2419–2429 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.polymdegradstab. 2013.06.024.
- Chen, S., Tan, Z., Qi, Y., Ouyang, C., 2019. Sorption of tri-n-butyl phosphate and tris(2chloroethyl) phosphate on polyethylene and polyvinyl chloride microplastics in seawater. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 149, 110490. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. marpolbul.2019.110490.
- Chen, C.F., Ju, Y.R., Lim, Y.C., Hsu, N.H., Lu, K.T., Hsieh, S.L., Dong, C. Di, Chen, C.W., 2020. Microplastics and their affiliated PAHs in the sea surface connected to the southwest coast of Taiwan. Chemosphere 254, 126818. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. chemosphere.2020.126818.
- Cole, M., Lindeque, P., Halsband, C., Galloway, T.S., 2011. Microplastics as contaminants in the marine environment: a review. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 62, 2588–2597. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.marpolbul.2011.09.025.
- Cox, L., Velarde, P., Cabrera, A., Hermosín, M.C., Cornejo, J., 2007. Dissolved organic carbon interactions with sorption and leaching of diuron in organic-amended soils. Eur. J. Soil Sci. 58, 714–721. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2389.2006.00856.x.
- Crawford, C.B., Quinn, B., 2017. Plastic production, waste and legislation. Microplastic Pollutants. Elsevier, pp. 39–56 https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-809406-8.00003-7. De-la-Torre, G.E., 2020. Microplastics: an emerging threat to food security and human
- De-la-Torre, G.E., 2020. Microplastics: an emerging threat to food security and human health. J. Food Sci. Technol. 57, 1601–1608. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13197-019-04138-1.
- De-la-Torre, G.E., Dioses-Salinas, D.C., Castro, J.M., Antay, R., Fernández, N.Y., Espinoza-Morriberón, D., Saldaña-Serrano, M., 2020. Abundance and distribution of microplastics on sandy beaches of Lima, Peru. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 151, 110877. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2019.110877.
- De-la-Torre, G.E., Dioses-Salinas, D.C., Pizarro-Ortega, C.I., Santillán, L., 2021. New plastic formations in the Anthropocene. Sci. Total Environ. 754, 142216. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.142216.
- Deng, J., Guo, P., Zhang, X., Su, H., Zhang, Y., Wu, Y., Li, Y., 2020. Microplastics and accumulated heavy metals in restored mangrove wetland surface sediments at Jinjiang Estuary (Fujian, China). Mar. Pollut. Bull. 159, 111482. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. marpolbul.2020.111482.
- Derraik, J.G.B., 2002. The pollution of the marine environment by plastic debris: a review. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 44, 842–852. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0025-326X(02)00220-5.
- Desforges, J.P.W., Galbraith, M., Ross, P.S., 2015. Ingestion of microplastics by zooplankton in the Northeast Pacific Ocean. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 69, 320–330. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s00244-015-0172-5.
- Dioses-Salinas, D.C., Pizarro-Ortega, C.I., De-la-Torre, G.E., 2020. A methodological approach of the current literature on microplastic contamination in terrestrial environments: current knowledge and baseline considerations. Sci. Total Environ. 730, 139164. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.139164.
- Dong, X., Zheng, M., Qu, L., Shi, L., Wang, L., Zhang, Y., Liu, X., Qiu, Y., Zhu, H., 2019. Sorption of tonalide, musk xylene, Galaxolide, and musk ketone by microplastics of

Science of the Total Environment 757 (2021) 143875

polyethylene and polyvinyl chloride. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 144, 129–133. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2019.04.046.

- Duan, H., Yu, L., Tian, F., Zhai, Q., Fan, L., Chen, W., 2020. Gut microbiota: a target for heavy metal toxicity and a probiotic protective strategy. Sci. Total Environ. 742, 140429. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.140429.
- Duffus, J.H., 2002. "Heavy metals" a meaningless term? (IUPAC technical report). Pure Appl. Chem. 74, 793–807. https://doi.org/10.1351/pac200274050793.
- Elizalde-Velázquez, A., Subbiah, S., Anderson, T.A., Green, M.J., Zhao, X., Cañas-Carrell, J.E., 2020. Sorption of three common nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) to microplastics. Sci. Total Environ. 715, 136974. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. scitotenv.2020.136974.
- Endo, S., Droge, S.T.J., Goss, K., 2011. Polyparameter linear free energy models for polyacrylate fiber—water partition coefficients to evaluate the efficiency of solidphase microextraction. Anal. Chem. 83, 1394–1400. https://doi.org/10.1021/ ac102868e.
- Fan, X., Zou, Y., Geng, N., Liu, J., Hou, J., Li, D., Yang, C., Li, Y., 2021. Investigation on the adsorption and desorption behaviors of antibiotics by degradable MPs with or without UV ageing process. J. Hazard. Mater. 401, 123363. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jhazmat.2020.123363.
- Fanovich, M.A., Jaeger, P., 2012. Sorption and diffusion of compressed carbon dioxide in polycaprolactone for the development of porous scaffolds. Mater. Sci. Eng. C 32, 961–968. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.msec.2012.02.021.
- Findlay, S.E.G., Parr, T.B., 2017. Dissolved organic matter. In: Lamberti, G.A., Hauer, F.R. (Eds.), Methods in Stream Ecology. Elsevier B.V., pp. 21–36 https://doi.org/10.1016/ B978-0-12-813047-6.00002-4.
- Fischer, A.C., Kroon, J.J., Verburg, T.G., Teunissen, T., Wolterbeek, H.T., 2007. On the relevance of iron adsorption to container materials in small-volume experiments on iron marine chemistry: 55Fe-aided assessment of capacity, affinity and kinetics. Mar. Chem. 107, 533–546. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marchem.2007.08.004.
- Fojt, J., David, J., Přikryl, R., Řezáčová, V., Kučerík, J., 2020. A critical review of the overlooked challenge of determining micro-bioplastics in soil. Sci. Total Environ. 745, 140975. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.140975.
- Fotopoulou, K.N., Karapanagioti, H.K., 2012. Surface properties of beached plastic pellets. Mar. Environ. Res. 81, 70–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marenvres.2012.08.010.
- Fred-Ahmadu, O.H., Bhagwat, G., Oluyoye, I., Benson, N.U., Ayejuyo, O.O., Palanisami, T., 2020. Interaction of chemical contaminants with microplastics: principles and perspectives. Sci. Total Environ. 706, 135978. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. scitotenv.2019.135978.
- Frias, J.P.G.L., Sobral, P., Ferreira, A.M., 2010. Organic pollutants in microplastics from two beaches of the Portuguese coast. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 60, 1988–1992. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.marpolbul.2010.07.030.
- Gao, F., Li, J., Sun, C., Zhang, L., Jiang, F., Cao, W., Zheng, L., 2019. Study on the capability and characteristics of heavy metals enriched on microplastics in marine environment. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 144, 61–67. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2019.04.039.
- Garcés-Ordóñez, O., Mejía-Esquivia, K.A., Sierra-Labastidas, T., Patiño, A., Blandón, L.M., Espinosa Díaz, L.F., 2020. Prevalence of microplastic contamination in the digestive tract of fishes from mangrove ecosystem in Cispata, Colombian Caribbean. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 154, 111085. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2020.111085.
- Gedik, K., Eryaşar, A.R., 2020. Microplastic pollution profile of Mediterranean mussels (Mytilus galloprovincialis) collected along the Turkish coasts. Chemosphere 260, 127570. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2020.127570.
- Gong, W., Jiang, M., Han, P., Liang, G., Zhang, T., Liu, G., 2019. Comparative analysis on the sorption kinetics and isotherms of fipronil on nondegradable and biodegradable microplastics. Environ. Pollut. 254, 112927. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. envpol.2019.07.095.
- Guo, X., Wang, J., 2019. The phenomenological mass transfer kinetics model for Sr2+ sorption onto spheroids primary microplastics. Environ. Pollut. 250, 737–745. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2019.04.091.
- Guo, X., Wang, X., Zhou, X., Kong, X., Tao, S., Xing, B., 2012. Sorption of four hydrophobic organic compounds by three chemically distinct polymers: role of chemical and physical composition. Environ. Sci. Technol. 46, 7252–7259. https://doi.org/10.1021/ es301386z.
- Guo, X., Pang, J., Chen, S., Jia, H., 2018. Sorption properties of tylosin on four different microplastics. Chemosphere 209, 240–245. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. chemosphere.2018.06.100.
- Guo, X., Chen, C., Wang, J., 2019a. Sorption of sulfamethoxazole onto six types of microplastics. Chemosphere 228, 300–308. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. chemosphere.2019.04.155.
- Guo, X., Liu, Y., Wang, J., 2019b. Sorption of sulfamethazine onto different types of microplastics: a combined experimental and molecular dynamics simulation study. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 145, 547–554. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2019.06.063.
- Guo, Xuetao, Hu, G., Fan, X., Jia, H., 2020a. Sorption properties of cadmium on microplastics: the common practice experiment and a two-dimensional correlation spectroscopic study. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 190, 110118. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ecoenv.2019.110118.
- Guo, Xuan, Liu, Y., Wang, J., 2020b. Equilibrium, kinetics and molecular dynamic modeling of Sr2+ sorption onto microplastics. J. Hazard. Mater. 400, 123324. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jhazmat.2020.123324.
- Hidalgo-Ruz, V., Thiel, M., 2013. Distribution and abundance of small plastic debris on beaches in the SE Pacific (Chile): a study supported by a citizen science project. Mar. Environ. Res. 87–88, 12–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marenvres.2013.02.015.
- Ho, W.K., Leung, K.S.Y., 2019. Sorption and desorption of organic UV filters onto microplastics in single and multi-solute systems. Environ. Pollut. 254, 113066. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2019.113066.

- Holmes, L.A., Turner, A., Thompson, R.C., 2012. Adsorption of trace metals to plastic resin pellets in the marine environment. Environ. Pollut. 160, 42–48. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.envpol.2011.08.052.
- Holmes, L.A., Turner, A., Thompson, R.C., 2014. Interactions between trace metals and plastic production pellets under estuarine conditions. Mar. Chem. 167, 25–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marchem.2014.06.001.
- Hu, J.Q., Yang, S.Z., Guo, L., Xu, X., Yao, T., Xie, F., 2017. Microscopic investigation on the adsorption of lubrication oil on microplastics. J. Mol. Liq. 227, 351–355. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.molliq.2016.12.043.
- Hüffer, T., Hofmann, T., 2016. Sorption of non-polar organic compounds by micro-sized plastic particles in aqueous solution. Environ. Pollut. 214, 194–201. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.envpol.2016.04.018.
- Hüffer, T., Weniger, A.K., Hofmann, T., 2018. Sorption of organic compounds by aged polystyrene microplastic particles. Environ. Pollut. 236, 218–225. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.envpol.2018.01.022.
- Ilani, T., Schulz, E., Chefetz, B., 2005. Interactions of organic compounds with wastewater dissolved organic matter: role of hydrophobic fractions. J. Environ. Qual. 34, 552–562. https://doi.org/10.2134/jeq2005.0552.
- Jin, F.L., Feng, L., Shi, Q.B., Park, S.J., 2016. Physico-mechanical and fire properties of polyurethane/melamine-formaldehyde interpenetrating polymer network foams. Macromol. Res. 24, 773–776. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13233-016-4115-4.
- Karlsson, M.V., Carter, LJ., Agatz, A., Boxall, A.B.A., 2017. Novel approach for characterizing pH-dependent uptake of ionizable chemicals in aquatic organisms. Environ. Sci. Technol. 51, 6965–6971. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.7b01265.
- Kodavanti, P.R.S., Royland, J.E., Sambasiva Rao, K.R.S., 2014. Toxicology of persistent organic pollutants. Reference Module in Biomedical Sciences. Elsevier https://doi.org/ 10.1016/b978-0-12-801238-3.00211-7.
- Kotdawala, R.R., Kazantzis, N., Thompson, R.W., 2005. Analysis of binary adsorption of polar and nonpolar molecules in narrow slit-pores by mean-field perturbation theory. J. Chem. Phys. 123, 244709. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.2133736.
- Lambert, S., Wagner, M., 2016. Formation of microscopic particles during the degradation of different polymers. Chemosphere 161, 510–517. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. chemosphere.2016.07.042.
- Lee, S.Y., Choi, H.J., 2018. Persimmon leaf bio-waste for adsorptive removal of heavy metals from aqueous solution. J. Environ. Manag. 209, 382–392. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jenvman.2017.12.080.
- Li, J., Zhang, K., Zhang, H., 2018. Adsorption of antibiotics on microplastics. Environ. Pollut. 237, 460–467. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2018.02.050.
- Li, Y., Li, M., Li, Z., Yang, L., Liu, X., 2019. Effects of particle size and solution chemistry on Triclosan sorption on polystyrene microplastic. Chemosphere 231, 308–314. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2019.05.116.
- Li, W., Lo, H.S., Wong, H.M., Zhou, M., Wong, C.Y., Tam, N.F.Y., Cheung, S.G., 2020. Heavy metals contamination of sedimentary microplastics in Hong Kong. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 153, 110977. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2020.110977.
- Li, Z., Hu, X., Qin, L., Yin, D., 2020a. Evaluating the effect of different modified microplastics on the availability of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons. Water Res. 170, 115290. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2019.115290.
- Li, R., Liu, Y., Sheng, Y., Xiang, Q., Zhou, Y., Cizdziel, J.V., 2020b. Effect of prothioconazole on the degradation of microplastics derived from mulching plastic film: apparent change and interaction with heavy metals in soil. Environ. Pollut. 260, 113988. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.envpol.2020.113988.
- Liao, Y. liang, Yang, J. yan, 2020. Microplastic serves as a potential vector for Cr in an invitro human digestive model. Sci. Total Environ. 703, 134805. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.134805.
- Lin, W., Jiang, R., Wu, J., Wei, S., Yin, L., Xiao, X., Hu, S., Shen, Y., Ouyang, G., 2019. Sorption properties of hydrophobic organic chemicals to micro-sized polystyrene particles. Sci. Total Environ. 690, 565–572. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.06.537.
- Liu, X., Zheng, M., Wang, L., Ke, R., Lou, Y., Zhang, X., Dong, X., Zhang, Y., 2018. Sorption behaviors of tris-(2,3-dibromopropyl) isocyanurate and hexabromocyclododecanes on polypropylene microplastics. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 135, 581–586. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.marpolbul.2018.07.061.
- Liu, F., Liu, G. zhou, Zhu, Z. lin, Wang, S. chun, Zhao, F. fei, 2019a. Interactions between microplastics and phthalate esters as affected by microplastics characteristics and solution chemistry. Chemosphere 214, 688–694. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. chemosphere.2018.09.174.
- Liu, X., Xu, J., Zhao, Y., Shi, H., Huang, C.H., 2019b. Hydrophobic sorption behaviors of 17Bestradiol on environmental microplastics. Chemosphere 226, 726–735. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2019.03.162.
- Liu, G., Zhu, Z., Yang, Y., Sun, Y., Yu, F., Ma, J., 2019c. Sorption behavior and mechanism of hydrophilic organic chemicals to virgin and aged microplastics in freshwater and seawater. Environ. Pollut. 246, 26–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2018.11.100.
- Llorca, M., Schirinzi, G., Martínez, M., Barceló, D., Farré, M., 2018. Adsorption of perfluoroalkyl substances on microplastics under environmental conditions. Environ. Pollut. 235, 680–691. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2017.12.075.
- Lo, H.S., Wong, C.Y., Tam, N.F.Y., Cheung, S.G., 2019. Spatial distribution and source identification of hydrophobic organic compounds (HOCs) on sedimentary microplastic in Hong Kong. Chemosphere 219, 418–426. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. chemosphere.2018.12.032.
- Magadini, D.L., Goes, J.I., Ortiz, S., Lipscomb, J., Pitiranggon, M., Yan, B., 2020. Assessing the sorption of pharmaceuticals to microplastics through in-situ experiments in New York City waterways. Sci. Total Environ. 729, 138766. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. scitotenv.2020.138766.
- Mahfooz, Y., Yasar, A., Guijian, L., Islam, Q.U., Akhtar, A.B.T., Rasheed, R., Irshad, S., Naeem, U., 2020. Critical risk analysis of metals toxicity in wastewater irrigated soil and crops: a study of a semi-arid developing region. Sci. Rep. 10, 12845. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/s41598-020-69815-0.

- Man, Y.B., Lopez, B.N., Wang, H.S., Leung, A.O.W., Chow, K.L., Wong, M.H., 2011. Cancer risk assessment of polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs) and polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) in former agricultural soils of Hong Kong. J. Hazard. Mater. 195, 92–99. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2011.08.010.
- Mao, R., Hu, Y., Zhang, S., Wu, R., Guo, X., 2020. Microplastics in the surface water of Wuliangsuhai Lake, northern China. Sci. Total Environ. 723, 137820. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.137820.
- Massos, A., Turner, A., 2017. Cadmium, lead and bromine in beached microplastics. Environ. Pollut. 227, 139–145. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2017.04.034.
- Mei, W., Chen, G., Bao, J., Song, M., Li, Y., Luo, C., 2020. Interactions between microplastics and organic compounds in aquatic environments: a mini review. Sci. Total Environ. 736, 139472. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.139472.
- Meyer, E.E., Rosenberg, K.J., Israelachvili, J., 2006. Recent progress in understanding hydrophobic interactions. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 103, 15739–15746. https://doi. org/10.1073/pnas.0606422103.
- Miniero, R., Iamiceli, A.L., 2008. Persistent organic pollutants. Encyclopedia of Ecology, Five-Volume Set. Elsevier Inc, pp. 2672–2682 https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-008045405-4.00421-3.
- Miniero, R., Iamiceli, A.L., De Felip, E., 2015. Persistent Organic Pollutants. Reference Module in Earth Systems and Environmental Sciences. Elsevier https://doi.org/10.1016/ B978-0-12-409548-9.09496-3.
- Mukhopadhyay, S., Dutta, R., Das, P., 2020. A critical review on plant biomonitors for determination of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) in air through solvent extraction techniques. Chemosphere 251, 126441. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. chemosphere.2020.126441.
- Müller, A., Becker, R., Dorgerloh, U., Simon, F.G., Braun, U., 2018. The effect of polymer aging on the uptake of fuel aromatics and ethers by microplastics. Environ. Pollut. 240, 639–646. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2018.04.127.
- Murthy, N.S., 2018. Experimental techniques for understanding polymer crystallization. Crystallization in Multiphase Polymer Systems. Elsevier Inc, pp. 49–72 https://doi. org/10.1016/B978-0-12-809453-2.00003-7.
- Nghiem, LD., Schäfer, A.I., Waite, T.D., 2002. Adsorptive interactions between membranes and trace contaminants. Desalination 147, 269–274. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0011-9164(02)00550-7.
- Nghiem, L.D., Schäfer, A.I., Elimelech, M., 2004. Removal of Natural Hormones by Nanofiltration Membranes: Measurement, Modeling, and Mechanisms. Environ. Sci. Technol. 38, 1888–1896. https://doi.org/10.1021/es034952r.
- Obst, M., Grathwohl, P., Kappler, A., Eibl, O., Peranio, N., Gocht, T., 2011. Quantitative highresolution mapping of phenanthrene sorption to black carbon particles. Environ. Sci. Technol. 45, 7314–7322. https://doi.org/10.1021/es2009117.
- Ofori, S.A., Cobbina, S.J., Doke, D.A., 2020. The occurrence and levels of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) in African environments—a systematic review. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 27, 32389–32431. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-020-09428-2.
- Ory, N.C., Sobral, P., Ferreira, J.L., Thiel, M., 2017. Amberstripe scad Decapterus muroadsi (Carangidae) fish ingest blue microplastics resembling their copepod prey along the coast of Rapa Nui (Easter Island) in the South Pacific subtropical gyre. Sci. Total Environ. 586, 430–437. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.01.175.
- Padilla-Ortega, E., Leyva-Ramos, R., Mendoza-Barron, J., 2014. Role of electrostatic interactions in the adsorption of cadmium(II) from aqueous solution onto vermiculite. Appl. Clay Sci. 88–89, 10–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clay.2013.12.012.
- Pannetier, P., Cachot, J., Clérandeau, C., Faure, F., Van Arkel, K., de Alencastro, L.F., Levasseur, C., Sciacca, F., Bourgeois, J.P., Morin, B., 2019. Toxicity assessment of pollutants sorbed on environmental sample microplastics collected on beaches: part Iadverse effects on fish cell line. Environ. Pollut. 248, 1088–1097. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.envpol.2018.12.091.
- Piehl, S., Leibner, A., Löder, M.G.J., Dris, R., Bogner, C., Laforsch, C., 2018. Identification and quantification of macro- and microplastics on an agricultural farmland. Sci. Rep. 8, 17950. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-36172-y.
- PlasticsEurope, 2019. Plastics-the Facts 2019 an Analysis of European Plastics Production, Demand and Waste Data.
- Pourret, O., Hursthouse, A., 2019. It's time to replace the term "heavy metals" with "potentially toxic elements" when reporting environmental research. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 16, 4446. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16224446.
- Pozo, K., Urbina, W., Gómez, V., Torres, M., Nuñez, D., Přibylová, P., Audy, O., Clarke, B., Arias, A., Tombesi, N., Guida, Y., Klánová, J., 2020. Persistent organic pollutants sorbed in plastic resin pellet — "Nurdles" from coastal areas of Central Chile. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 151, 110786. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2019.110786.
- Prunier, J., Maurice, L., Perez, E., Gigault, J., Pierson Wickmann, A.C., Davranche, M., Halle, A. ter, 2019. Trace metals in polyethylene debris from the North Atlantic subtropical gyre. Environ. Pollut. 245, 371–379. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2018.10.043.
- Puckowski, A., Cwięk, W., Mioduszewska, K., Stepnowski, P., Białk-Bielińska, A., 2021. Sorption of pharmaceuticals on the surface of microplastics. Chemosphere 263, 127976. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2020.127976.
- Qiu, Z., Ikehara, T., Nishi, T., 2003. Poly(hydroxybutyrate)/poly(butylene succinate) blends: miscibility and nonisothermal crystallization. Polymer (Guildf) 44, 2503–2508. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0032-3861(03)00150-2.
- Qiu, Y., Zheng, M., Wang, L., Zhao, Q., Lou, Y., Shi, L., Qu, L., 2019. Sorption of polyhalogenated carbazoles (PHCs) to microplastics. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 146, 718–728. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2019.07.034.
- Ravit, B., Cooper, K., Buckley, B., Yang, I., Deshpande, A., 2019. Organic compounds associated with microplastic pollutants in New Jersey, U.S.A. surface waters. AIMS Environ. Sci. 6, 445–459. https://doi.org/10.3934/environsci.2019.6.445.
- Razanajatovo, R.M., Ding, J., Zhang, S., Jiang, H., Zou, H., 2018. Sorption and desorption of selected pharmaceuticals by polyethylene microplastics. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 136, 516–523. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2018.09.048.

- Rist, S.E., Assidqi, K., Zamani, N.P., Appel, D., Perschke, M., Huhn, M., Lenz, M., 2016. Suspended micro-sized PVC particles impair the performance and decrease survival in the Asian green mussel Perna viridis. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 111, 213–220. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2016.07.006.
- Rochman, C.M., Hentschel, B.T., Teh, S.J., 2014. Long-term sorption of metals is similar among plastic types: implications for plastic debris in aquatic environments. PLoS One 9, e85433. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0085433.
- Santillán, L., Saldaña-Serrano, M., De-la-Torre, G.E., 2020. First record of microplastics in the endangered marine otter (Lontra felina). Mastozoología Neotrop. 27, 211–215. https://doi.org/10.31687/saremMN.20.27.1.0.12.
- Scopetani, C., Cincinelli, A., Martellini, T., Lombardini, E., Ciofini, A., Fortunati, A., Pasquali, V., Ciattini, S., Ugolini, A., 2018. Ingested microplastic as a two-way transporter for PBDEs in Talitrus saltator. Environ. Res. 167, 411–417. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. envres.2018.07.030.
- Seidensticker, S., Grathwohl, P., Lamprecht, J., Zarfl, C., 2018. A combined experimental and modeling study to evaluate pH-dependent sorption of polar and non-polar compounds to polyethylene and polystyrene microplastics. Environ. Sci. Eur. 30, 30. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12302-018-0155-z.
- Shan, J., Wang, J., Zhan, J., Liu, L., Wu, F., Wang, X., 2020. Sorption behaviors of crude oil on polyethylene microplastics in seawater and digestive tract under simulated realworld conditions. Chemosphere 257, 127225. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. chemosphere.2020.127225.
- Shen, M., Song, B., Zeng, G., Zhang, Y., Huang, W., Wen, X., Tang, W., 2020. Are biodegradable plastics a promising solution to solve the global plastic pollution? Environ. Pollut. 263, 114469. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2020.114469.
- Shruti, V.C., Kutralam-Muniasamy, G., 2019. Bioplastics: missing link in the era of microplastics. Sci. Total Environ. 697, 134139. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. scitotenv.2019.134139.
- Sørensen, L., Rogers, E., Altin, D., Salaberria, I., Booth, A.M., 2020. Sorption of PAHs to microplastic and their bioavailability and toxicity to marine copepods under coexposure conditions. Environ. Pollut. 258, 113844. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. envpol.2019.113844.
- de Souza Machado, A.A., Kloas, W., Zarfl, C., Hempel, S., Rillig, M.C., 2018. Microplastics as an emerging threat to terrestrial ecosystems. Glob. Chang. Biol. 24, 1405–1416. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.14020.
- Srivastava, N.K., Majumder, C.B., 2008. Novel biofiltration methods for the treatment of heavy metals from industrial wastewater. J. Hazard. Mater. 151, 1–8. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2007.09.101.
- Sun, H., Shi, X., Mao, J., Zhu, D., 2010. Tetracycline sorption to coal and soil humic acids: an examination of humic structural heterogeneity. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 29. https:// doi.org/10.1002/etc.248 n/a-n/a.
- Sun, X., Liang, J., Zhu, M., Zhao, Y., Zhang, B., 2018. Microplastics in seawater and zooplankton from the Yellow Sea. Environ. Pollut. 242, 585–595. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.envpol.2018.07.014.
- Šunta, U., Prosenc, F., Trebše, P., Bulc, T.G., Kralj, M.B., 2020. Adsorption of acetamiprid, chlorantraniliprole and flubendiamide on different type of microplastics present in alluvial soil. Chemosphere 261, 127762. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. chemosphere.2020.127762.
- Ta, A.T., Babel, S., 2020. Microplastic contamination on the lower Chao Phraya: abundance, characteristic and interaction with heavy metals. Chemosphere 257, 127234. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2020.127234.
- Teuten, E.L., Rowland, S.J., Galloway, T.S., Thompson, R.C., 2007. Potential for plastics to transport hydrophobic contaminants. Environ. Sci. Technol. 41, 7759–7764. https:// doi.org/10.1021/es071737s.
- Thompson, R.C., Olson, Y., Mitchell, R.P., Davis, A., Rowland, S.J., John, A.W.G., McGonigle, D., Russell, A.E., 2004. Lost at sea: where is all the plastic? Science (80-.). 304, 838.
- Tourinho, P.S., Kočí, V., Loureiro, S., van Gestel, C.A.M., 2019. Partitioning of chemical contaminants to microplastics: sorption mechanisms, environmental distribution and effects on toxicity and bioaccumulation. Environ. Pollut. 252, 1246–1256. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.envpol.2019.06.030.
- Tubić, A., Lončarski, M., Maletić, S., Molnar Jazić, J., Watson, M., Tričković, J., Agbaba, J., 2019. Significance of chlorinated phenols adsorption on plastics and bioplastics during water treatment. Water 11, 2358. https://doi.org/10.3390/w11112358.
- Turner, A., 2003. Salting out of chemicals in estuaries: implications for contaminant partitioning and modelling. Sci. Total Environ. 314–316, 599–612. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/S0048-9697(03)00076-7.
- Turner, A., Holmes, L.A., 2015. Adsorption of trace metals by microplastic pellets in fresh water. Environ. Chem. 12, 600. https://doi.org/10.1071/EN14143.
- Turner, A., Wallerstein, C., Arnold, R., 2019. Identification, origin and characteristics of biobead microplastics from beaches in western Europe. Sci. Total Environ. 664, 938–947. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.01.281.
- Varner, K.E., Rindfusz, K., Gaglione, A., Viveiros, E., 2010. Nano Titanium Dioxide Environmental Matters: State of the Science Literature Review.
- Velzeboer, I., Kwadijk, C.J.A.F., Koelmans, A.A., 2014. Strong sorption of PCBs to nanoplastics, microplastics, carbon nanotubes, and fullerenes. Environ. Sci. Technol. 48, 4869–4876. https://doi.org/10.1021/es405721v.
- Vockenberg, T., Wichard, T., Ueberschaar, N., Franke, M., Stelter, M., Braeutigam, P., 2020. The sorption behaviour of amine micropollutants on polyethylene microplastics – impact of aging and interactions with green seaweed. Environ Sci Process Impacts 22, 1678–1687. https://doi.org/10.1039/d0em00119h.
- Wang, W., Wang, J., 2018a. Different partition of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon on environmental particulates in freshwater: microplastics in comparison to natural sediment. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 147, 648–655. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ecoenv.2017.09.029.

- Wang, W., Wang, J., 2018b. Comparative evaluation of sorption kinetics and isotherms of pyrene onto microplastics. Chemosphere 193, 567–573. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. chemosphere.2017.11.078.
- Wang, F., Shih, K.M., Li, X.Y., 2015. The partition behavior of perfluorooctanesulfonate (PFOS) and perfluorooctanesulfonamide (FOSA) on microplastics. Chemosphere 119, 841–847. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2014.08.047.
- Wang, J., Tan, Z., Peng, J., Qiu, Q., Li, M., 2016. The behaviors of microplastics in the marine environment. Mar. Environ. Res. 113, 7–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. marenvres.2015.10.014.
- Wang, F., Pan, Y., Cai, P., Guo, T., Xiao, H., 2017a. Single and binary adsorption of heavy metal ions from aqueous solutions using sugarcane cellulose-based adsorbent. Bioresour. Technol. 241, 482–490. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2017.05.162.
- Wang, J., Peng, J., Tan, Z., Gao, Y., Zhan, Z., Chen, Q., Cai, L., 2017b. Microplastics in the surface sediments from the Beijiang River littoral zone: composition, abundance, surface textures and interaction with heavy metals. Chemosphere 171, 248–258. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2016.12.074.
- Wang, Z., Chen, M., Zhang, L., Wang, K., Yu, X., Zheng, Z., Zheng, R., 2018a. Sorption behaviors of phenanthrene on the microplastics identified in a mariculture farm in Xiangshan Bay, southeastern China. Sci. Total Environ. 628–629, 1617–1626. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.02.146.
- Wang, J., Zheng, L., Li, J., 2018b. A critical review on the sources and instruments of marine microplastics and prospects on the relevant management in China. Waste Manag. Res. 36, 898–911. https://doi.org/10.1177/0734242X18793504.
- Wang, J., Liu, X., Liu, G., Zhang, Z., Wu, H., Cui, B., Bai, J., Zhang, W., 2019. Size effect of polystyrene microplastics on sorption of phenanthrene and nitrobenzene. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 173, 331–338. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2019.02.037.
- Wang, F., Zhang, M., Sha, W., Wang, Y., Hao, H., Dou, Y., Li, Y., 2020a. Sorption behavior and mechanisms of organic contaminants to nano and microplastics. Molecules 25, 1827. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules25081827.
- Wang, Q., Zhang, Y., Wangjin, X., Wang, Y., Meng, G., Chen, Y., 2020b. The adsorption behavior of metals in aqueous solution by microplastics effected by UV radiation. J. Environ. Sci. (China) 87, 272–280. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jes.2019.07.006.
- Wang, Y., Wang, X., Li, Y., Li, J., Liu, Y., Xia, S., Zhao, J., 2021. Effects of exposure of polyethylene microplastics to air, water and soil on their adsorption behaviors for copper and tetracycline. Chem. Eng. J. 404, 126412. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2020.126412.
- Webb, S., Gaw, S., Marsden, I.D., McRae, N.K., 2020. Biomarker responses in New Zealand green-lipped mussels Perna canaliculus exposed to microplastics and triclosan. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 201, 110871. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2020.110871.
- Weber, R., Herold, C., Hollert, H., Kamphues, J., Ungemach, L., Blepp, M., Ballschmiter, K., 2018. Life cycle of PCBs and contamination of the environment and of food products from animal origin. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 25, 16325–16343. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s11356-018-1811-y.
- Weinstein, J.E., Dekle, J.L., Leads, R.R., Hunter, R.A., 2020. Degradation of bio-based and biodegradable plastics in a salt marsh habitat: another potential source of microplastics in coastal waters. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 160, 111518. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.marpolbul.2020.111518.
- Wu, C., Zhang, K., Huang, X., Liu, J., 2016. Sorption of pharmaceuticals and personal care products to polyethylene debris. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 23, 8819–8826. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s11356-016-6121-7.
- Wu, P., Cai, Z., Jin, H., Tang, Y., 2019. Adsorption mechanisms of five bisphenol analogues on PVC microplastics. Sci. Total Environ. 650, 671–678. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. scitotenv.2018.09.049.
- Wu, X., Liu, P., Huang, H., Gao, S., 2020a. Adsorption of triclosan onto different aged polypropylene microplastics: critical effect of cations. Sci. Total Environ. 717, 137033. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.137033.
- Wu, J., Xu, P., Chen, Q., Ma, D., Ge, W., Jiang, T., Chai, C., 2020b. Effects of polymer aging on sorption of 2,2',4,4'-tetrabromodiphenyl ether by polystyrene microplastics. Chemosphere 253, 126706. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2020.126706.
- Xu, B., Liu, F., Brookes, P.C., Xu, J., 2018a. The sorption kinetics and isotherms of sulfamethoxazole with polyethylene microplastics. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 131, 191–196. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2018.04.027.

- Xu, B., Liu, F., Brookes, P.C., Xu, J., 2018b. Microplastics play a minor role in tetracycline sorption in the presence of dissolved organic matter. Environ. Pollut. 240, 87–94. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2018.04.113.
- Xu, P., Ge, W., Chai, C., Zhang, Y., Jiang, T., Xia, B., 2019. Sorption of polybrominated diphenyl ethers by microplastics. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 145, 260–269. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.marpolbul.2019.05.050.
- Yamashita, R., Tanaka, K., Yeo, B.G., Takada, H., van Franeker, J.A., Dalton, M., Dale, E., 2019. Hazardous Chemicals in Plastics in Marine Environments: International Pellet Watch, in: Handbook of Environmental Chemistry. Springer Verlag, pp. 163–183. doi:https:// doi.org/10.1007/698_2018_299.
- Yeo, B.G., Takada, H., Yamashita, R., Okazaki, Y., Uchida, K., Tokai, T., Tanaka, K., Trenholm, N., 2020. PCBs and PBDEs in microplastic particles and zooplankton in open water in the Pacific Ocean and around the coast of Japan. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 151, 110806. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2019.110806.
- Yu, F., Yang, C., Zhu, Z., Bai, X., Ma, J., 2019. Adsorption behavior of organic pollutants and metals on micro/nanoplastics in the aquatic environment. Sci. Total Environ. 694, 133643. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.133643.
- Yu, F., Li, Y., Huang, G., Yang, C., Chen, C., Zhou, T., Zhao, Y., Ma, J., 2020a. Adsorption behavior of the antibiotic levofloxacin on microplastics in the presence of different heavy metals in an aqueous solution. Chemosphere 260, 127650. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2020.127650.
- Yu, H., Yang, B., Waigi, M.G., Peng, F., Li, Z., Hu, X., 2020b. The effects of functional groups on the sorption of naphthalene on microplastics. Chemosphere 261, 127592. https:// doi.org/10.1016/i.chemosphere.2020.127592.
- Zhan, Z., Wang, J., Peng, J., Xie, Q., Huang, Y., Gao, Y., 2016. Sorption of 3,3',4,4'tetrachlorobiphenyl by microplastics: a case study of polypropylene. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 110, 559–563. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2016.05.036.
- Zhang, H., Wang, J., Zhou, B., Zhou, Y., Dai, Z., Zhou, Q., Chriestie, P., Luo, Y., 2018a. Enhanced adsorption of oxytetracycline to weathered microplastic polystyrene: kinetics, isotherms and influencing factors. Environ. Pollut. 243, 1550–1557. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.envpol.2018.09.122.
- Zhang, X., Zheng, M., Wang, L., Lou, Y., Shi, L., Jiang, S., 2018b. Sorption of three synthetic musks by microplastics. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 126, 606–609. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. marpolbul.2017.09.025.
- Zhang, X., Zheng, M., Yin, X., Wang, L., Lou, Y., Qu, L., Liu, X., Zhu, H., Qiu, Y., 2019. Sorption of 3,6-dibromocarbazole and 1,3,6,8-tetrabromocarbazole by microplastics. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 138, 458–463. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2018.11.055.
- Zhao, L., Rong, L., Xu, J., Lian, J., Wang, L., Sun, H., 2020. Sorption of five organic compounds by polar and nonpolar microplastics. Chemosphere 257, 127206. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2020.127206.
- Zhou, Y., Liu, X., Wang, J., 2019. Characterization of microplastics and the association of heavy metals with microplastics in suburban soil of Central China. Sci. Total Environ. 694, 133798. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.133798.
- Zhou, Q., Yang, N., Li, Y., Ren, B., Ding, X., Bian, H., Yao, X., 2020a. Total concentrations and sources of heavy metal pollution in global river and lake water bodies from 1972 to 2017. Glob. Ecol. Conserv. 22, e00925. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gecco.2020.e00925.
- Zhou, Y., Yang, Y., Liu, G., He, G., Liu, W., 2020b. Adsorption mechanism of cadmium on microplastics and their desorption behavior in sediment and gut environments: the roles of water pH, lead ions, natural organic matter and phenanthrene. Water Res. 184, 116209. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2020.116209.
- Zon, N.F., Azman, S., Abdullah, N.H., Supian, H.S., 2020. Kinetics and isotherm of cadmium adsorption onto polyethylene microbeads in artificial seawater kinetics and isotherm of cadmium adsorption onto polyethylene microbeads in artificial seawater. 2nd International Conference on Civil & Environmental Engineering. IOP Publishing, p. 012130 https://doi.org/10.1088/1755-1315/476/1/012130.
- Zou, J., Liu, X., Zhang, D., Yuan, X., 2020. Adsorption of three bivalent metals by four chemical distinct microplastics. Chemosphere 248, 126064. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. chemosphere.2020.126064.
- Zuo, L.Z., Li, H.X., Lin, L., Sun, Y.X., Diao, Z.H., Liu, S., Zhang, Z.Y., Xu, X.R., 2019. Sorption and desorption of phenanthrene on biodegradable poly(butylene adipate coterephtalate) microplastics. Chemosphere 215, 25–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. chemosphere.2018.09.173.